
 
Argyll and Bute Council 
Comhairle Earra Ghaidheal agus Bhoid 
 
Corporate Services 
Director:  Nigel Stewart 
 

Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT 
Tel:  01546 602127  Fax:  01546 604444 

DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD 
e.mail –nigel.stewart@argyll-bute.gov.uk 

 
8 September 2006 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

A special meeting of the AUDIT COMMITTEE will be held in the ROOM 4, VICTORIA HALLS, 
HELENSBURGH on FRIDAY, 15 SEPTEMBER 2006 at 3:00 PM, which you are requested to 
attend. 
 
 

Nigel Stewart 
Director of Corporate Services 

 
 

BUSINESS 
 
 1. APOLOGIES  

 
 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
 3. SOCIAL WORK AND FREE PERSONAL CARE EXPENDITURE AND GAE  

 
  (a) REPORT BY HEAD OF STRATEGIC FINANCE DATED 26 JUNE 2006 

(Pages 1 - 12) 
 

  (b) REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY SERVICES DATED JULY 2006 
(Pages 13 - 28) 

 
  (c) REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY SERVICES DATED 

SEPTEMBER 2006 (Pages 29 - 50) 
 

  (d) CIRCULAR NO. CCD5/2003 (Pages 51 - 100) 
 

  (e) FREE PERSONAL CARE INQUIRY - CORRESPONDENCE FROM COSLA 
(Pages 101 - 104) 

 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
 Councillor Donald MacMillan Councillor John McAlpine
 Councillor Gary Mulvaney (Chair) Councillor Elaine Robertson
 Ian M M Ross Councillor John Tacchi
 Christopher Valentine 
 
 
 Contact: Katie McKenzie                  Tel. No. 01546 604511 
 



Agenda Item 3aPage 1



Page 2



Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



F:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\2\AI00031266\GAEReport0.doc 

 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL                   AUDIT COMMITTEE   
 
COMMUNITY SERVICES            THURSDAY 13 JULY 2006 
 
 
SOCIAL WORK GAE / EXPENDITURE – SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT 
 
 
1. SUMMARY 
  
 1.1  This paper provides further information in regard to aspects of the 

report on Social Work expenditure/GAE submitted by the Head of 
Strategic Finance to the Council on 28 June 2006, which has been 
referred back to the Audit Committee. 

   
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1   Note the further information provided in this report. 

 
3. DETAIL 
 

3.1  The report submitted to the Council on 28 June 2006 by the Head 
of Strategic Finance provided information in relation to Social 
Work GAE and expenditure for the years 2004/05, 2005/06, and 
the current financial year 2006/07.  Social Work expenditure was 
broken down into a number of sub-headings.  The main elements 
of Social Work expenditure, as per the Strategic Finance report 
are: -  

 
• Service Strategy 
• Children and Families 
• Older People 
• Disabilities and Mental Health Needs 
• Free Personal Care 

 
 Appendices 1 to 5, attached to this report, provide a further 

breakdown of the expenditure under these five headings.  This 
further information is not an exhaustive itemisation of each area 
but, rather, is a summary of the main areas of spend within each 
category. 

 
 3.2 Members should also be aware that, although direct Social Work 

expenditure has increased, year on year, over the last three 
years, two other significant sources of funding have decreased 
considerably – Supporting People and Better Neighbourhood 
Services Fund/Social Inclusion Projects.  Appendix 6 shows the 
overall position in respect of these funding sources. 

 
Director of Community Services  
July 2006 
For further information contact: Jim Robb – Head of Integrated Care, Kilmory, Lochgilphead 
01546 04323 

Agenda Item 3bPage 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 
 

Service Strategy 
 
The following table provides the level of spend for financial years 2004/2005 
and 2005/2006 and the budget for 2006/2007.  Service Strategy incurs the 
costs associated with running the service, such as, Planning & Performance 
and Quality Assurance.   
 
A change in the method of recording and reallocating support service / 
departmental administration costs mainly accounts for the increase in costs 
between 2004/2005 and 2005/2006.   
 
The increase between 2005/2006 and 2006/2007 is attributable to increases 
in the costs of providing the Planning and Performance and Quality 
Assurance Teams. 
 
Service Strategy 2004/2005 2005/2006 2006/2007 
Social Work 458 842 911 

TOTALS 458 842 911 
 

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 
 

 
Children & Families 
 
The following table provides a breakdown of the expenditure within 
Children & Families.  The figures do not include any Education related 
expenditure on Children & Families such as Surestart or Child Care Strategy 
but do include support services and departmental administration.  
 

Children & Families 2004/2005 2005/2006 2006/2007 
Assessment Casework care management 
etc. 1,888 678 851 

Residential Schools 2,147 4,002 3,456 

Care Homes Non Respite 1,294 1,278 1,422 

Homecare provided on a respite care basis 113 87 216 

Other daycare (non Respite) 81 (11) (12) 

Other services to support carers 506 577 664 

Non respite fostering family placements 465 672 666 

Other services 638 536 887 

TOTALS 7,132 7,819 8,150 
 
 
The decrease in expenditure between 2004/2005 and future years, in 
relation to Assessment, Casework, Care Management etc is as a result of a 
change to the method of reallocating support services / departmental 
administration across sub-services.  
 
The following trends have been identified as significant factors in creating 
budget pressures: 
 
Child Protection 
There were 90 referrals in 2003/04, 92 in 2004/05, and 87 in 2005/06.  The 
number of children placed on the Child Protection Register as at 31 March 
was as follows: 
 

 
There are 
currently 70 

children placed on the Child Protection Register, of which 35 are affected 
by parental substance misuse. This represents an increase in children 
registered since March 2004 of 59%.  
 
Home Supervision 
The number of children and young people on home supervision orders 
(Section 70) has increased from 137 in March 2003, to 152 in 2006, which 
represents an increase of 11% 
Panel Report Requests 

 Year 2003/2004 2004/2005 2005/2006
Children 44 39 57 

Page 17



There were 311 reports requested in 2004, dropping to 126 in 2005, before 
rising to 574 in 2006. Overall, an increase of 84% since 2004. 
 

Looked After Children 

The number of children looked after away from home has increased as 
follows, which represents an overall increase of almost 22% 
  

 
External 

Placements 

There are currently 39 children in residential school placements, an 
increase of 39% since 2000. 
 

Category 2000 2002 2004 2006 

Residential 
School 
Placements 

 

28 

 

27 

 

31 

 

39 

Children with 
EBD 

 

23 

 

18 

 

18 

 

20 

Children 
affected by 
Disability 

 

5 

 

9 

 

13 

 

19 

 

The number of children affected by disability requiring specialist residential 
school placements has increased 280% since 2000, with the associated costs 
rising from £196,000 in 2000, to the current level of £1,077,359. 
 
The number of children with Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties (EBD) 
has fallen by 13% over the same period. 
 
The cost of placing a child with EBD in a residential school has risen from an 
average of £65,000 per annum in 2000, to the current rate of around 
£100,000 per annum. 
 
The number of children with EBD who have complex needs requiring high 
levels of supervision that cannot be placed in local authority resources, and 
where there is no access to residential school placements has also increased 
from 1 in 2000, to 6 in 2006. The cost of these placements range from 
£87,000 per annum to &204,722. 
 
The current agreement with Education for funding external placements is 
62/38 split, with social work paying the 62%. This arrangement is terminated 
at the school leaving age, thereafter, the full cost of placements are carried 
by social work. 

 Year 2003/2004 2004/2005 2005/2006
Children 88 93 107 

Page 18



Respite care for children affected by disability has also been funded from 
the Residential Schools budget, rising from £110,000 in 2003/04 to £315,683 
in 2005/06 
 
The overall spend in Residential School budget (including all external 
placements) was as follows: 
 

 
The costs 
in the 

initial table include an allocation of support services / departmental 
administration. 
 
Foster Care 
There are currently 28 Temporary Foster Carers, 20 Permanent Foster 
Carers, providing placements for 47 children. In addition, there are 17 
Shared Carers providing placements for 6 children. 
 
This represents an increase of 11 Temporary Foster Carers (50%), an 
increase of 10 Permanent Carers (50%), and an increase of 1 Shared Carer 
(6%), since 2001. 
 
In 2003, there were 3 specialist foster placements outwith the authority, 
with an average cost of £70,000 per annum. This increased to 5 placements 
in 2006. 
 
It has also been necessary to place two children in Independent Foster Care 
as no other resource was available in Scotland, at an average cost of 
£48,000 per annum. 
 
The family placement team dealt with 86 referrals for placements in 
2004/05 and 147 referrals in 2005/06, an increase of 71%. 
 

2003/2004 2004/2005 2005/2006 2006/2007 
£2,145,763 £2,373,156 £2,884,928 £2,658,333 

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 
 
 
Older People 
 
The following table provides a breakdown of the expenditure within Older 
People services. 
 
Older People 2004/2005 2005/2006 2006/2007 
Assessment Casework care management 
etc. 3,810 174 206 

Respite care residential 362 292 302 

Care Homes Non Respite 10,790 11,496 11,891 

Other home care (non respite) 4,836 7,085 6,526 

Other daycare (non Respite) 1,226 496 694 

Other services 739 767 833 

TOTALS 21,763 20,310 20,452 
 
 
The total spend for 2004/2005 is different to the figure presented previously 
as Supporting People income and expenditure were included but have now 
been removed as they are not included in the 2005/2006 and 2006/2007 
figures. 
 
In terms of homecare, included within the Other home care (non respite) 
category above, the following table provides further information in respect 
of service levels: 
 
Homecare 2003/2004 2004/2005 2005/2006 
Number of clients (30 April) 1,060 1,078 937 

Hours provided 8,527 7,958 7,221 

Average provision 8.04 7.38 7.71 

Budget 2,772,215 2,170,779 2,240,959 
 
The pattern shows fluctuation in spend with spend at its highest point 
during 2003/2004, falling during 2004/2005 and rising again during 
2005/2006.   
 
The number of clients dropped during the two year period though noticeably 
during the 2005/2006 period. This can, in part, be explained with greater 
focus on personal care, evening and weekend work (at higher cost than 
midweek) and moving away from domestic care provision. However, the 
average hours per client per week significantly fell over the two year period 
from 8.04 to 7.7. 
 
In terms of purchased, that is, not directly provided residential / nursing 
placements the following table provides further information: 
 

Page 21



Residential / Nursing Placements 2004/2005 2005/2006 2006/2007 
Number of clients funded 721 688 545 

Budget 6,413,185 6,869,187 6,814,899 
 
The number of clients funded represents the total number throughout the 
year, a percentage of which will not be full year placements. 
 
The service purchased will vary depending on the cost of individual 
placements. The higher the ratio of Nursing Home placements, as against 
Residential placements, the fewer the placements purchased. 
 
The budget allocation was at its highest during 2004/2005.   
 
It is anticipated that the elderly figure for 2006/2007 will increase by 47 to 
592 as a result of additional funding allocated to Community Services from 
central Council resources. 
 
In general, the service provision for older people continues to fall at a time 
when the projected population growth for age 75+ is 2.5% per annum to 
2020. 
 
Additional pressure is placed on budgets due to the closure of NHS 
continuing care beds.  Recent experience has indicated that this nationally 
led agenda does not necessarily release revenue to the Council, equivalent 
to the funds required to develop alternative community based services.  
This matter is subject to ongoing negotiation with the NHS. 
 
In addition, there are equivalent pressures relating to Respite & Day Care. 
Again, demand for respite and day care is increasing with population and 
reduction in NHS continuing care beds.  These are core services in terms of 
supporting people at home and supporting carers. 
 

Page 22



 
Appendix 4 

 
 
Disabilities and Mental Health Needs 
 
The following table provides a breakdown of the expenditure within 
Disabilities and Mental Health Needs services. 
 
Disabilities & Mental Health Needs 2004/2005 2005/2006 2006/2007 
Assessment Casework care management 
etc. 2,210 375 492 

Respite care residential 188 184 226 

Care Homes Non Respite 1,759 2,256 2,594 

Other home care (non respite) 1,674 173 167 

Other daycare (non Respite) 2,457 3,119 3,131 

Other equipment & adaptations 171 145 182 

Other services to support carers 195 144 143 

Other services 411 1,836 2,176 

TOTALS 9,065 8,232 9,111 
 

 
In terms of Learning Disability, budget pressures have arisen due to the 
following: 
 
 Children living longer into adulthood. Disability generally accompanied 

by chronic physical disorders that are increasingly treatable. 30 years 
ago many would have died before adulthood.  A small number of cases 
are inherited from child care every year with little or no turnover in the 
budget and the costs can range from £30k - £150k per annum and 
inflationary increases tend to be much higher than the normal inflation 
rate; 

 Adults in residential placements are living longer for same reasons. 
These are expensive placements with little or no turnover; 

 Adults in the community are increasingly living independently from their 
parents either by choice or because they have outlived parents. Both are 
patterns that have evolved over the last 10-15 years. Consequently 24 
hour care packages are often required where previously they would have 
been at home with parents; and 

 Closure of long term NHS hospital provision, for example, Merchiston & 
Lennox Castle. Alternative care often requires 24 hour care packages.  
Although Resource Transfer is available from Health, invariably the costs 
of the care packages are higher than the transfer of resources. 

 
In terms of Mental Health, budget pressures have arisen due to the 
following: 
 

Page 23



 Closure of NHS Mental Hospitals creates a pressure for Social Care 
provision. Assisted via Mental Health Resource Transfer from NHS and 
ring fenced revenue from Scottish Executive. e.g. SMIG; 

 From above expensive care packages within the community; 
 Increased demand of older people with Mental Health problems, 

dementia. We would normally cover this from older persons budget as 
against mental health spend though there will be some crossover;  

 Increase in alcohol related brain damage. A national problem though 
significant within Argyll& Bute; 

 Significant change in culture. Clients and carers more open to ask for 
assistance as stigma of mental illness is not what it was 30 years ago; 
and 

 Legislative changes, Mental Health ( Care and Treatment) (Scotland ) Act 
2003 and Adults with Incapacity ( Scotland ) Act 2000 have made more 
explicit duties on the council to assess and provide services. 

 
The following table provides detail regarding the number of residential 
placements, which have been and continue to be funded: 
 
Residential / Nursing Placements 2004/2005 2005/2006 2006/2007 
Learning Disability 23 23 22 

Physical Disability 5 5 4 

Mental Health 22 20 12 

TOTALS 50 48 38 
 
As you can see, the numbers of placements for learning and physical 
disability have remained fairly static, however, the number of mental 
health placements has reduced by almost 50%.  The mental health 
placements include placements in respect of recovery from alcohol / 
substance misuse and the number of these placements are unpredictable.  It 
is possible that the number for 2006/2007 will increase by the year-end as 
the placements are normally only for a set period of time, for example, 12 
weeks. 

 
 

 

Page 24



Appendix 5 
 

 
Free Personal Care 
 
The following table provides a breakdown of the expenditure for free 
Personal Care: 
 
Free Personal Care 2004/2005 2005/2006 2006/2007 
Residential 1,903 1,877 1,693 

Community 3,785 4,029 3,877 

TOTALS 5,688 5,906 5,570 
 
 
As indicated previously, the Council spends more on Free Personal Care than 
the GAE allocation. 
 
The following table provides a note of the number of clients being funded 
by Free Personal Care, both residential and community based. 
 
Free Personal Care  2004/2005 2005/2006 2006/2007 
Number of clients - residential 312 275 237 

Number of clients - community 171 176 118 
 
 
The figure in respect of residential for 2006/2007 represents the number of 
clients funded during the first quarter of the year.  This figure will probably 
increase by the end of the financial year to, approximately, 260. 
 
The figure in respect of community for 2006/2007 represents the number of 
clients transferring from 2005/2006 into 2006/2007, that is, as at 31 March 
2006 and does not include any additional clients funded since that date. 
 
However, due to budget pressures / savings the number of clients being 
funded is decreasing. 
 

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



F:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\2\AI00031266\GAEAppendix60.doc 

Appendix 6 
 
 
Grant Funding 
 
The following table provides a breakdown of grant allocations: 
 
Grant Funding 2004/2005 2005/2006 2006/2007 
Supporting People 14,900 13,782 13,261 
Better Neighbourhood Services 
Fund 1,170 1,942 766 

Social Inclusion Projects 744 0 0 
Community Regeneration Fund 
(CRF) 0 559 841 

TOTALS 16,814 16,283 14,868 
 
 
As stated in paragraph 3.2 there has been a decrease in grant funding in 
respect of social work related services over the three year span. The actual 
decrease is £1.946m or 11.5%. This has added to the additional pressure 
being placed on mainstream budgets. 
 
Supporting People funding will continue to reduce, certainly over the next 
2/3 financial years, and Community Regeneration Funding is not guaranteed 
after 2007/08, and so this pressure will continue and intensify. 
 
 
 

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL                   AUDIT COMMITTEE   
 
COMMUNITY SERVICES       FRIDAY 15 SEPTEMBER 2006 
 
 
SOCIAL WORK GAE / EXPENDITURE  
 
 
1. SUMMARY 
  
 1.1  This paper provides further information with regard to aspects of 

the report on Social Work expenditure/GAE submitted by the 
Head of Strategic Finance to the Council on 28 June 2006 and 
also to the further report submitted to the Audit Committee on 13 
July 2006. 

   
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1   Note the further information provided in this report. 

 
3. DETAIL 

 
3.1 As a result of considering the further report, submitted to the Audit 

Committee on 13 July 2006, Audit Committee Members were 
invited to request further information.  As a result the following 
information is now attached as appendices to this report: 

 
• Appendix 1 (pages 1-7) - social work GAE and expenditure 

figures from 2000/2001 onwards; 
• Appendix 1 (page 8)  - free personal care GAE and 

expenditure figures from 2002/2003, that is, year of 
implementation, onwards; 

• Appendix 1 (page 9) – cost of council run care homes from 
2000/2001 onwards; 

• Appendix 2 – breakdown of expenditure within older people 
services from 2000/2001 onwards; 

• Appendix 3 – client and expenditure details in relation to 
homecare provision from 2000/2001 onwards; 

• Appendix 4 – internal / external split of costs in relation to 
homecare provision from 2000/2001 onwards; 

• Appendix 5 – residential / nursing placement costs and client 
numbers from 2000/2001 onwards; and 

• Appendix 6 – free personal care expenditure and client 
numbers from 2002/2003 onwards. 

 
  
Director of Community Services  
 
 
For further information contact: Jim Robb – Head of Integrated Care, Kilmory, 
Lochgilphead 01546 604323 

Agenda Item 3cPage 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1

A
N

A
L
Y

SI
S 

O
F
 S

O
C

IA
L
 W

O
R

K
 G

A
E
 A

N
D

 A
C

T
U

A
L
 E

X
P
E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 2

0
0
0
/2

0
0
1

G
A

E
 I
n
d
ic

a
to

r

G
A

E

A
ll
o
ca

ti
o
n

Se
rv

ic
e

St
ra

te
gy

R
e
p
o
rt

e
r 

to

C
h
il
d
re

n
's

P
a
n
e
l

C
h
il
d
re

n

a
n
d

F
a
m

il
ie

s

O
ld

e
r

P
e
o
p
le

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

&
 M

e
n
ta

l 

H
e
a
lt

h
H

IV
/A

id
s

A
d
d
ic

ti
o
n
s/

S

u
b
st

a
n
ce

M
is

u
se

C
ri

m
in

a
l

J
u
st

ic
e

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

G
A

E
 A

ll
o
ca

ti
o
n
 2

0
0
0
/2

0
0
1

H
o
m

e
 B

a
se

d
 E

ld
e
rl

y
5
,2

2
9

5
,2

2
9

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
cc

o
m

m
o
d
a
ti

o
n
 f

o
r 

E
ld

e
rl

y
6
,0

2
5

6
,0

2
5

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

e
ld

e
rl

y
5
4
8

5
4
8

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y
a
n
d
 R

e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
9
9
5

9
9
5

D
a
y 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
2
1
6

2
1
6

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

ch
il
d
re

n
6
8
8

6
8
8

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

fo
r 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
7

7
C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
1

1
Se

rv
ic

e
s 

fo
r 

P
e
o
p
le

w
it

h
 D

is
a
b
il
it

ie
s

3
,8

5
9

3
,8

5
9

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

2
1
6

2
1
6

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

L
iv

in
g 

F
u
n
d

1
8
6

1
8
6

R
e
m

a
in

in
g 

So
ci

a
l 
W

o
rk

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

7
0
5

7
0
5

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d

re
la

te
d

a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

-
o
th

e
r

cl
ie

n
ts

3
1
5

3
1
5

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
M

e
n
ta

l 
Il
ln

e
ss

4
0
2

4
0
2

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
A
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

7
7
2

7
7
2

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
A
ct

io
n
 P

la
n

1
5
3

1
5
3

C
h
il
d
re

n
s 

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

D
e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

F
u
n
d

1
4
2

1
4
2

Su
p
p
o
rt

in
g 

Y
o
u
n
g 

P
e
o
p
le

 L
e
a
vi

n
g 

C
a
re

0
0

C
a
re

rs
 S

e
rv

ic
e

a
n
d
 R

e
sp

it
e
 C

a
re

2
0
4

6
8

1
3
6

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

P
re

se
rv

e
d
 R

ig
h
ts

0
0

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
ll
o
w

a
n
ce

0
0

P
e
rs

o
n
a
l 
N

u
rs

in
g 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

0
0

C
a
re

 H
o
m

e
 F

e
e
s

0
0

T
o
ta

l 
G

A
E
 2

0
0
0
/2

0
0
1

2
0
,6

6
3

7
7
2

0
2
,1

0
9

1
1
,9

5
5

5
,8

1
9

8
0

0

A
ct

u
a
l
E
x
p
e
n
d
it

u
re

 2
0
0
0
/2

0
0
1

2
1
,3

9
2

3
7
4

0
6
,4

9
9

8
,5

1
4

5
,9

6
0

0
4
5

0

V
a
ri

a
n
ce

 2
0
0
0
/2

0
0
1

7
2
9

(3
9
8
)

0
4
,3

9
0

(3
,4

4
1
)

1
4
1

(8
)

4
5

0

P
a
ge

 1

Page 31



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1

A
N

A
L
Y

SI
S 

O
F
 S

O
C

IA
L
 W

O
R

K
 G

A
E
 A

N
D

 A
C

T
U

A
L
 E

X
P
E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 2

0
0
1
/2

0
0
2

G
A

E
 I
n
d
ic

a
to

r

G
A

E

A
ll
o
ca

ti
o
n

Se
rv

ic
e

St
ra

te
gy

R
e
p
o
rt

e
r 

to

C
h
il
d
re

n
's

P
a
n
e
l

C
h
il
d
re

n

a
n
d

F
a
m

il
ie

s

O
ld

e
r

P
e
o
p
le

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

&
 M

e
n
ta

l 

H
e
a
lt

h
H

IV
/A

id
s

A
d
d
ic

ti
o
n
s/

S

u
b
st

a
n
ce

M
is

u
se

C
ri

m
in

a
l

J
u
st

ic
e

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

G
A

E
 A

ll
o
ca

ti
o
n
 2

0
0
1
-0

2
H

o
m

e
 B

a
se

d
 E

ld
e
rl

y
6
,0

1
2

6
,0

1
2

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
cc

o
m

m
o
d
a
ti

o
n
 f

o
r 

E
ld

e
rl

y
6
,6

1
8

6
,6

1
8

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

e
ld

e
rl

y
5
6
7

5
6
7

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y
a
n
d
 R

e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
1
,2

9
6

1
,2

9
6

D
a
y 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
2
4
7

2
4
7

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

ch
il
d
re

n
6
4
8

6
4
8

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

fo
r 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
1
2

1
2

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
2

2
Se

rv
ic

e
s 

fo
r 

P
e
o
p
le

w
it

h
 D

is
a
b
il
it

ie
s

4
,1

8
8

4
,1

8
8

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

2
2
3

2
2
3

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

L
iv

in
g 

F
u
n
d

1
8
8

1
8
8

R
e
m

a
in

in
g 

So
ci

a
l 
W

o
rk

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

8
4
1

8
4
1

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d

re
la

te
d

a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

-
o
th

e
r

cl
ie

n
ts

3
2
4

3
2
4

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
M

e
n
ta

l 
Il
ln

e
ss

4
2
4

4
2
4

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
A
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

7
9
5

7
9
5

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
A
ct

io
n
 P

la
n

2
0
5

2
0
5

C
h
il
d
re

n
s 

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

D
e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

F
u
n
d

1
8
5

1
8
5

Su
p
p
o
rt

in
g 

Y
o
u
n
g 

P
e
o
p
le

 L
e
a
vi

n
g 

C
a
re

0
0

C
a
re

rs
 S

e
rv

ic
e

a
n
d
 R

e
sp

it
e
 C

a
re

3
0
7

1
0
2

2
0
5

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

P
re

se
rv

e
d
 R

ig
h
ts

0
0

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
ll
o
w

a
n
ce

0
0

P
e
rs

o
n
a
l 
N

u
rs

in
g 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

0
0

C
a
re

 H
o
m

e
 F

e
e
s

0
0

T
o
ta

l 
G

A
E
 2

0
0
1
/2

0
0
2

2
3
,0

8
2

7
9
5

0
2
,4

7
8

1
3
,4

0
2

6
,3

9
3

1
4

0
0

A
ct

u
a
l
E
x
p
e
n
d
it

u
re

 2
0
0
1
/2

0
0
2

2
3
,4

8
8

4
3
6

0
6
,9

5
8

9
,4

2
2

6
,5

1
2

0
1
6
0

0

V
a
ri

a
n
ce

 2
0
0
1
/2

0
0
2

4
0
6

(3
5
9
)

0
4
,4

8
0

(3
,9

8
0
)

1
1
9

(1
4
)

1
6
0

0

P
a
ge

 2

Page 32



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1

A
N

A
L
Y

SI
S 

O
F
 S

O
C

IA
L
 W

O
R

K
 G

A
E
 A

N
D

 A
C

T
U

A
L
 E

X
P
E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 2

0
0
2
/2

0
0
3

G
A

E
 I
n
d
ic

a
to

r

G
A

E

A
ll
o
ca

ti
o
n

Se
rv

ic
e

St
ra

te
gy

R
e
p
o
rt

e
r 

to

C
h
il
d
re

n
's

P
a
n
e
l

C
h
il
d
re

n

a
n
d

F
a
m

il
ie

s

O
ld

e
r

P
e
o
p
le

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

&
 M

e
n
ta

l 

H
e
a
lt

h
H

IV
/A

id
s

A
d
d
ic

ti
o
n
s/

S

u
b
st

a
n
ce

M
is

u
se

C
ri

m
in

a
l

J
u
st

ic
e

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

G
A

E
 A

ll
o
ca

ti
o
n
 2

0
0
2
/2

0
0
3

H
o
m

e
 B

a
se

d
 E

ld
e
rl

y
6
,3

2
9

6
,3

2
9

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
cc

o
m

m
o
d
a
ti

o
n
 f

o
r 

E
ld

e
rl

y
6
,6

8
1

6
,6

8
1

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

e
ld

e
rl

y
5
7
5

5
7
5

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y
a
n
d
 R

e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
1
,3

2
1

1
,3

2
1

D
a
y 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
2
5
6

2
5
6

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

ch
il
d
re

n
6
5
8

6
5
8

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

fo
r 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
1
3

1
3

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
2

2
Se

rv
ic

e
s 

fo
r 

P
e
o
p
le

w
it

h
 D

is
a
b
il
it

ie
s

4
,4

8
1

4
,4

8
1

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

2
5
1

2
5
1

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

L
iv

in
g 

F
u
n
d

1
8
9

1
8
9

R
e
m

a
in

in
g 

So
ci

a
l 
W

o
rk

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

8
9
4

8
9
4

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d

re
la

te
d

a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

-
o
th

e
r

cl
ie

n
ts

3
3
8

3
3
8

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
M

e
n
ta

l 
Il
ln

e
ss

4
2
4

4
2
4

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
A
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

8
2
3

8
2
3

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
A
ct

io
n
 P

la
n

2
0
0

2
0
0

C
h
il
d
re

n
s 

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

D
e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

F
u
n
d

2
4
7

2
4
7

Su
p
p
o
rt

in
g 

Y
o
u
n
g 

P
e
o
p
le

 L
e
a
vi

n
g 

C
a
re

0
0

C
a
re

rs
 S

e
rv

ic
e

a
n
d
 R

e
sp

it
e
 C

a
re

3
2
1

1
0
7

2
1
4

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

P
re

se
rv

e
d
 R

ig
h
ts

2
,0

1
7

2
,0

1
7

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
ll
o
w

a
n
ce

0
0

P
e
rs

o
n
a
l 
N

u
rs

in
g 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

0
0

C
a
re

 H
o
m

e
 F

e
e
s

0
0

T
o
ta

l 
G

A
E
 2

0
0
2
/2

0
0
3

2
6
,0

2
0

8
2
3

0
2
,5

8
9

1
5
,8

0
2

6
,7

9
1

1
5

0
0

A
ct

u
a
l
E
x
p
e
n
d
it

u
re

 2
0
0
2
/2

0
0
3

2
9
,7

7
3

2
9
2

3
9

4
,8

6
3

1
6
,8

8
5

7
,4

4
3

0
2
2
2

2
9

V
a
ri

a
n
ce

 2
0
0
2
/2

0
0
3

3
,7

5
3

(5
3
1
)

3
9

2
,2

7
4

1
,0

8
3

6
5
2

(1
5
)

2
2
2

2
9

P
a
ge

 3

Page 33



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1

A
N

A
L
Y

SI
S 

O
F
 S

O
C

IA
L
 W

O
R

K
 G

A
E
 A

N
D

 A
C

T
U

A
L
 E

X
P
E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 2

0
0
3
/2

0
0
4

G
A

E
 I
n
d
ic

a
to

r

G
A

E

A
ll
o
ca

ti
o
n

Se
rv

ic
e

St
ra

te
gy

R
e
p
o
rt

e
r 

to

C
h
il
d
re

n
's

P
a
n
e
l

C
h
il
d
re

n

a
n
d

F
a
m

il
ie

s

O
ld

e
r

P
e
o
p
le

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

&
 M

e
n
ta

l 

H
e
a
lt

h
H

IV
/A

id
s

A
d
d
ic

ti
o
n
s/

S

u
b
st

a
n
ce

M
is

u
se

C
ri

m
in

a
l

J
u
st

ic
e

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

G
A

E
 A

ll
o
ca

ti
o
n
 2

0
0
3
/2

0
0
4

H
o
m

e
 B

a
se

d
 E

ld
e
rl

y
8
,3

2
7

8
,3

2
7

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
cc

o
m

m
o
d
a
ti

o
n
 f

o
r 

E
ld

e
rl

y
6
,8

9
6

6
,8

9
6

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

e
ld

e
rl

y
5
9
3

5
9
3

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y
a
n
d
 R

e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
1
,3

7
6

1
,3

7
6

D
a
y 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
2
6
7

2
6
7

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

ch
il
d
re

n
6
8
5

6
8
5

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

fo
r 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
1
3

1
3

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
2

2
Se

rv
ic

e
s 

fo
r 

P
e
o
p
le

w
it

h
 D

is
a
b
il
it

ie
s

4
,6

9
4

4
,6

9
4

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

2
5
9

2
5
9

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

L
iv

in
g 

F
u
n
d

1
8
9

1
8
9

R
e
m

a
in

in
g 

So
ci

a
l 
W

o
rk

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

9
4
3

9
4
3

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d

re
la

te
d

a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

-
o
th

e
r

cl
ie

n
ts

3
4
9

3
4
9

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
M

e
n
ta

l 
Il
ln

e
ss

4
4
6

4
4
6

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
A
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

8
4
9

8
4
9

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
A
ct

io
n
 P

la
n

2
0
2

2
0
2

C
h
il
d
re

n
s 

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

D
e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

F
u
n
d

1
8
8

1
8
8

Su
p
p
o
rt

in
g 

Y
o
u
n
g 

P
e
o
p
le

 L
e
a
vi

n
g 

C
a
re

0
0

C
a
re

rs
 S

e
rv

ic
e

a
n
d
 R

e
sp

it
e
 C

a
re

4
2
5

1
4
2

2
8
3

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

P
re

se
rv

e
d
 R

ig
h
ts

1
,8

5
3

1
,8

5
3

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
ll
o
w

a
n
ce

4
5
7

4
5
7

P
e
rs

o
n
a
l 
N

u
rs

in
g 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

2
,1

7
4

2
,1

7
4

C
a
re

 H
o
m

e
 F

e
e
s

4
8
0

4
8
0

T
o
ta

l 
G

A
E
 2

0
0
3
/2

0
0
4

3
1
,6

6
7

8
4
9

0
2
,6

5
8

2
0
,9

8
2

7
,1

6
3

1
5

0
0

A
ct

u
a
l
E
x
p
e
n
d
it

u
re

 2
0
0
3
/2

0
0
4

2
9
,4

6
5

3
2
7

5
0

5
,5

7
2

1
7
,5

1
4

5
,8

7
1

0
1
7
6

(4
5
)

V
a
ri

a
n
ce

 2
0
0
3
/2

0
0
4

(2
,2

0
2
)

(5
2
2
)

5
0

2
,9

1
4

(3
,4

6
8
)

(1
,2

9
2
)

(1
5
)

1
7
6

(4
5
)

P
a
ge

 4

Page 34



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1

A
N

A
L
Y

SI
S 

O
F
 S

O
C

IA
L
 W

O
R

K
 G

A
E
 A

N
D

 A
C

T
U

A
L
 E

X
P
E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 2

0
0
4
/2

0
0
5

G
A

E
 I
n
d
ic

a
to

r

G
A

E

A
ll
o
ca

ti
o
n

Se
rv

ic
e

St
ra

te
gy

R
e
p
o
rt

e
r

to

C
h
il
d
re

n
's

P
a
n
e
l

C
h
il
d
re

n

a
n
d

F
a
m

il
ie

s

O
ld

e
r

P
e
o
p
le

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

&
 M

e
n
ta

l 

H
e
a
lt

h
H

IV
/A

id
s

A
d
d
ic

ti
o
n
s/

Su
b
st

a
n
ce

M
is

u
se

C
ri

m
in

a
l

J
u
st

ic
e

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

G
A

E
 A

ll
o
ca

ti
o
n
 2

0
0
4
/2

0
0
5

H
o
m

e
 B

a
se

d
 E

ld
e
rl

y
8
,5

9
7

8
,5

9
7

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
cc

o
m

m
o
d
a
ti

o
n
 f

o
r 

E
ld

e
rl

y
7
,2

4
1

7
,2

4
1

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

e
ld

e
rl

y
6
2
2

6
2
2

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y
a
n
d
 R

e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
1
,5

7
2

1
,5

7
2

D
a
y 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
3
3
9

3
3
9

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

ch
il
d
re

n
7
7
3

7
7
3

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

fo
r 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
1
4

1
4

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
2

2
Se

rv
ic

e
s 

fo
r 

P
e
o
p
le

w
it

h
 D

is
a
b
il
it

ie
s

5
,2

8
4

5
,2

8
4

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

2
9
2

2
9
2

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

L
iv

in
g 

F
u
n
d

2
1
3

2
1
3

R
e
m

a
in

in
g 

So
ci

a
l 
W

o
rk

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

1
,3

5
6

1
,3

5
6

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d

re
la

te
d

a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

-
o
th

e
r

cl
ie

n
ts

3
9
8

3
9
8

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
M

e
n
ta

l 
Il
ln

e
ss

4
4
6

4
4
6

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
A
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

9
4
5

9
4
5

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
A
ct

io
n
 P

la
n

2
1
2

2
1
2

C
h
il
d
re

n
s 

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

D
e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

F
u
n
d

4
3
2

4
3
2

Su
p
p
o
rt

in
g 

Y
o
u
n
g 

P
e
o
p
le

 L
e
a
vi

n
g 

C
a
re

5
8

5
8

C
a
re

rs
 S

e
rv

ic
e

a
n
d
 R

e
sp

it
e
 C

a
re

4
4
5

1
4
8

2
9
7

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

P
re

se
rv

e
d
 R

ig
h
ts

1
,8

2
1

1
,8

2
1

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
ll
o
w

a
n
ce

4
0
5

4
0
5

P
e
rs

o
n
a
l 
N

u
rs

in
g 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

2
,3

6
0

2
,3

6
0

C
a
re

 H
o
m

e
 F

e
e
s

1
,4

1
1

1
,4

1
1

T
o
ta

l 
G

A
E
 2

0
0
4
/2

0
0
5

3
5
,2

3
8

9
4
5

0
3
,3

2
2

2
2
,6

6
9

8
,2

8
6

1
6

0
0

A
ct

u
a
l
E
x
p
e
n
d
it

u
re

 2
0
0
4
/2

0
0
5

3
5
,3

4
1

4
5
8

6
2

7
,1

3
2

1
8
,4

4
7

9
,0

6
5

1
9
5

(1
8
)

V
a
ri

a
n
ce

 2
0
0
4
/2

0
0
5

1
0
3

(4
8
7
)

6
2

3
,8

1
0

(4
,2

2
2
)

7
7
9

(1
6
)

1
9
5

(1
8
)

P
a
ge

 5

Page 35



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1

A
N

A
L
Y

SI
S 

O
F
 S

O
C

IA
L
 W

O
R

K
 G

A
E
 A

N
D

 A
C

T
U

A
L
 E

X
P
E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 2

0
0
5
/2

0
0
6

G
A

E
 I
n
d
ic

a
to

r

G
A

E

A
ll
o
ca

ti
o
n

Se
rv

ic
e

St
ra

te
gy

R
e
p
o
rt

e
r

to

C
h
il
d
re

n
's

P
a
n
e
l

C
h
il
d
re

n

a
n
d

F
a
m

il
ie

s

O
ld

e
r

P
e
o
p
le

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

&
 M

e
n
ta

l 

H
e
a
lt

h
H

IV
/A

id
s

A
d
d
ic

ti
o
n
s/

Su
b
st

a
n
ce

M
is

u
se

C
ri

m
in

a
l

J
u
st

ic
e

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

G
A

E
 A

ll
o
ca

ti
o
n
 2

0
0
5
/2

0
0
6

H
o
m

e
 B

a
se

d
 E

ld
e
rl

y
9
,0

1
3

9
,0

1
3

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
cc

o
m

m
o
d
a
ti

o
n
 f

o
r 

E
ld

e
rl

y
7
,2

4
1

7
,2

4
1

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

e
ld

e
rl

y
6
2
2

6
2
2

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y
a
n
d
 R

e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
1
,5

7
2

1
,5

7
2

D
a
y 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
3
3
9

3
3
9

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

ch
il
d
re

n
7
7
3

7
7
3

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

fo
r 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
1
4

1
4

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
2

2
Se

rv
ic

e
s 

fo
r 

P
e
o
p
le

w
it

h
 D

is
a
b
il
it

ie
s

5
,2

8
4

5
,2

8
4

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

2
9
2

2
9
2

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

L
iv

in
g 

F
u
n
d

2
1
3

2
1
3

R
e
m

a
in

in
g 

So
ci

a
l 
W

o
rk

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

1
,3

5
6

1
,3

5
6

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d

re
la

te
d

a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

-
o
th

e
r

cl
ie

n
ts

3
9
8

3
9
8

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
M

e
n
ta

l 
Il
ln

e
ss

4
4
6

4
4
6

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
A
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

9
4
5

9
4
5

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
A
ct

io
n
 P

la
n

2
1
2

2
1
2

C
h
il
d
re

n
s 

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

D
e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

F
u
n
d

4
3
2

4
3
2

Su
p
p
o
rt

in
g 

Y
o
u
n
g 

P
e
o
p
le

 L
e
a
vi

n
g 

C
a
re

5
8

5
8

C
a
re

rs
 S

e
rv

ic
e

a
n
d
 R

e
sp

it
e
 C

a
re

4
4
5

1
4
8

2
9
7

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

P
re

se
rv

e
d
 R

ig
h
ts

1
,8

2
1

1
,8

2
1

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
ll
o
w

a
n
ce

4
0
5

4
0
5

P
e
rs

o
n
a
l 
N

u
rs

in
g 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

2
,3

6
0

2
,3

6
0

C
a
re

 H
o
m

e
 F

e
e
s

1
,4

1
1

1
,4

1
1

T
o
ta

l 
G

A
E
 2

0
0
5
/2

0
0
6

3
5
,6

5
4

9
4
5

0
3
,3

2
2

2
3
,0

8
5

8
,2

8
6

1
6

0
0

A
ct

u
a
l
E
x
p
e
n
d
it

u
re

 2
0
0
5
/2

0
0
6

3
7
,4

1
6

8
4
2

5
7

7
,8

1
8

2
0
,3

1
0

8
,2

3
3

1
6
8

(1
2
)

V
a
r i

a
n
ce

 2
0
0
5
/2

0
0
6

1
,7

6
2

(1
0
3
)

5
7

4
,4

9
6

(2
,7

7
5
)

(5
3
)

(1
6
)

1
6
8

(1
2
)

P
a
ge

 6

Page 36



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1

A
N

A
L
Y

SI
S 

O
F
 S

O
C

IA
L
 W

O
R

K
 G

A
E
 A

N
D

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 E
X
P
E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 2

0
0
6
/2

0
0
7

G
A

E
 I
n
d
ic

a
to

r

G
A

E

A
ll
o
ca

ti
o
n

Se
rv

ic
e

St
ra

te
gy

R
e
p
o
rt

e
r

to

C
h
il
d
re

n
's

P
a
n
e
l

C
h
il
d
re

n

a
n
d

F
a
m

il
ie

s

O
ld

e
r

P
e
o
p
le

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

&
 M

e
n
ta

l 

H
e
a
lt

h
H

IV
/A

id
s

A
d
d
ic

ti
o
n
s/

Su
b
st

a
n
ce

M
is

u
se

C
ri

m
in

a
l

J
u
st

ic
e

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

G
A

E
 A

ll
o
ca

ti
o
n
 2

0
0
6
/2

0
0
7

H
o
m

e
 B

a
se

d
 E

ld
e
rl

y
9
,8

3
6

9
,8

3
6

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
cc

o
m

m
o
d
a
ti

o
n
 f

o
r 

E
ld

e
rl

y
7
,6

9
8

7
,6

9
8

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

e
ld

e
rl

y
6
5
3

6
5
3

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y
a
n
d
 R

e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
1
,8

0
8

1
,8

0
8

D
a
y 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

C
h
il
d
re

n
3
8
8

3
8
8

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
-

ch
il
d
re

n
8
8
7

8
8
7

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

fo
r 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
1
8

1
8

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

H
IV

/
A
ID

S
2

2
Se

rv
ic

e
s 

fo
r 

P
e
o
p
le

w
it

h
 D

is
a
b
il
it

ie
s

5
,5

8
0

5
,5

8
0

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d
 A

d
m

in
- 

D
is

a
b
il
it

ie
s

2
9
8

2
9
8

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

L
iv

in
g 

F
u
n
d

2
1
4

2
1
4

R
e
m

a
in

in
g 

So
ci

a
l 
W

o
rk

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

1
,3

9
1

1
,3

9
1

C
a
se

w
o
rk

a
n
d

re
la

te
d

a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

-
o
th

e
r

cl
ie

n
ts

4
0
9

4
0
9

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
M

e
n
ta

l 
Il
ln

e
ss

4
4
7

4
4
7

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
A
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti

o
n

9
4
8

9
4
8

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y 
C
a
re

- 
A
ct

io
n
 P

la
n

2
1
7

2
1
7

C
h
il
d
re

n
s 

Se
rv

ic
e
s 

D
e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

F
u
n
d

4
3
8

4
3
8

Su
p
p
o
rt

in
g 

Y
o
u
n
g 

P
e
o
p
le

 L
e
a
vi

n
g 

C
a
re

5
8

5
8

C
a
re

rs
 S

e
rv

ic
e

a
n
d
 R

e
sp

it
e
 C

a
re

4
6
8

1
5
6

3
1
2

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

P
re

se
rv

e
d
 R

ig
h
ts

1
,8

3
0

1
,8

3
0

D
W

P
 T

ra
n
sf

e
r 

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
A
ll
o
w

a
n
ce

4
0
5

4
0
5

P
e
rs

o
n
a
l 
N

u
rs

in
g 

C
a
re

 f
o
r 

O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

2
,4

8
8

2
,4

8
8

C
a
re

 H
o
m

e
 F

e
e
s

2
,2

4
8

2
,2

4
8

T
o
ta

l 
G

A
E
 2

0
0
6
/2

0
0
7

3
8
,7

2
9

9
4
8

0
3
,7

3
5

2
5
,3

7
5

8
,6

5
1

2
0

0
0

B
u
d
ge

t
E
x
p
e
n
d
it

u
re

 2
0
0
6
/2

0
0
7

3
8
,8

9
9

9
1
1

4
6

8
,1

5
0

2
0
,4

5
3

9
,1

1
0

1
8
0

4
9

V
a
ri

a
n
ce

 2
0
0
6
/2

0
0
7

1
7
0

(3
7
)

4
6

4
,4

1
5

(4
,9

2
2
)

4
5
9

(2
0
)

1
8
0

4
9

P
a
ge

 7

Page 37



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1

A
N

A
L
Y

SI
S 

O
F
 F

R
E
E
 P

E
R

SO
N

A
L
 C

A
R

E
 G

A
E
 A

N
D

 E
X
P
E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 2

0
0
2
/2

0
0
3
 -

 2
0
0
6
/2

0
0
7

2
0
0
2
-0

3
2
0
0
3
-0

4
2
0
0
4
-0

5
2
0
0
5
-0

6
2
0
0
6
-0

7

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

G
A
E

2
6
5
5

3
5
8
2

3
7
2
0

3
8
8
4

4
1
5
1

E
xp

e
n
d
it

u
re

4
0
5
8

4
3
9
0

5
6
8
8

5
9
0
6

5
5
7
0

V
a
ri

a
n
ce

1
4
0
3

8
0
8

1
9
6
8

2
0
2
2

1
4
1
9

P
a
ge

 8

Page 38



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1

C
O

ST
S 

O
F
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 R

U
N

 C
A

R
E
 H

O
M

E
S 

2
0
0
4
-0

5
 T

O
 2

0
0
6
-0

7

A
ct

u
a
l

2
0
0
0
/2

0
0
1

A
ct

u
a
l

2
0
0
1
/2

0
0
2

A
ct

u
a
l

2
0
0
2
/2

0
0
3

A
ct

u
a
l

2
0
0
3
/2

0
0
4

A
ct

u
a
l

2
0
0
4
/2

0
0
5

A
ct

u
a
l

2
0
0
5
/2

0
0
6

B
u
d
ge

t

2
0
0
6
/2

0
0
7

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

£
0
0
0
s

G
ro

ss
 O

p
e
ra

ti
n
g 

E
xp

e
n
d
it

u
re

4
,7

0
3
,1

0
5

4
,8

1
4
,9

5
7

5
,0

0
3
,5

2
0

5
,0

7
4
,9

1
8

5
,5

2
0
,7

3
6

5
,7

0
7
,9

7
6

5
,2

7
0
,2

1
7

In
co

m
e

(6
5
0
,7

7
6
)

(7
6
7
,7

4
8
)

(8
4
2
,4

9
9
)

(1
,0

8
2
,6

3
9
)

(1
,0

6
4
,7

1
4
) 

(1
,0

7
7
,6

8
9
) 

(1
,0

5
0
,7

1
6
) 

N
e
t 

O
p
e
ra

ti
n
g 

E
xp

e
n
d
it

u
re

4
,0

5
2
,3

2
9

4
,0

4
7
,2

0
9

4
,1

6
1
,0

2
1

3
,9

9
2
,2

7
9

4
,4

5
6
,0

2
2

4
,6

3
0
,2

8
7

4
,2

1
9
,5

0
1

C
a
p
it

a
l 
C
h
a
rg

e
s

9
3
5
,1

5
2

8
7
6
,1

4
7

7
3
4
,4

3
1

7
0
3
,5

5
2

4
3
4
,1

9
2

4
6
5
,2

7
7

4
0
8
,6

9
7

Su
p
p
o
rt

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s 

C
h
a
rg

e
s

3
1
7
,8

8
2

3
2
4
,0

5
6

4
3
7
,5

6
2

4
3
7
,5

6
2

7
0
1
,8

7
3

6
0
1
,8

3
5

5
4
2
,8

0
7

It
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 n

o
te

d
 t

h
a
t 

in
 a

d
d
it

io
n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 a

b
o
ve

 o
p
e
ra

ti
n
g 

co
st

s 
th

e
 u

n
d
e
rn

o
te

d
 c

o
st

s 
fo

r 
ca

p
it

a
l 
ch

a
rg

e
s 

a
n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 c

h
a
rg

e
s

a
re

 a
ls

o
 a

p
p
o
rt

io
n
e
d
 t

o
 c

a
re

 h
o
m

e
s.

P
a
ge

 9

Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 2

O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s 

E
x
p
e
n
d
it

u
re

 A
n
a
ly

si
s

O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

2
0
0
0
/2

0
0
1

£
0
0
0

2
0
0
1
/2

0
0
2

£
0
0
0

2
0
0
2
/2

0
0
3

£
0
0
0

2
0
0
3
/2

0
0
4

£
0
0
0

2
0
0
4
/2

0
0
5

£
0
0
0

2
0
0
5
/2

0
0
6

£
0
0
0

2
0
0
6
/2

0
0
7

£
0
0
0

A
ss

e
ss

m
e
n
t 

C
a
se

w
o
rk

 c
a
re

 m
a
n
a
ge

m
e
n
t 

e
tc

.
2
7
7
2

2
6
0
8

7
6

3
5
8
6

3
,8

1
0

1
7
4

2
0
6

R
e
sp

it
e
 c

a
re

 r
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l

1
2
1

2
0
0

2
3
4

2
8
6

3
6
2

2
9
2

3
0
2

C
a
re

 H
o
m

e
s 

N
o
n
 R

e
sp

it
e

4
6
7
1

5
2
8
7

9
2
7
8

8
5
0
8

1
0
,7

9
0

1
1
,4

9
6

1
1
,8

9
1

O
th

e
r 

h
o
m

e
 c

a
re

 (
n
o
n
 r

e
sp

it
e
)

2
4
4
6

2
8
0
1

4
8
4
5

3
4
0
4

4
,8

3
6

7
,0

8
5

6
,5

2
6

O
th

e
r 

d
a
yc

a
re

 (
n
o
n
 R

e
sp

it
e
)

4
3
8

5
2
2

1
0
4
7

7
6
0

1
,2

2
6

4
9
6

6
9
4

O
th

e
r 

se
rv

ic
e
s

2
3
7

5
6

1
4
0
4

9
7
0

7
3
9

7
6
7

8
3
3

T
O

T
A

L
S

1
0
,6

8
5

1
1
,4

7
4

1
6
,8

8
4

1
7
,5

1
4

2
1
,7

6
3

2
0
,3

1
0

2
0
,4

5
2

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 3

H
o
m

e
 C

a
re

 A
n
a
ly

si
s

H
o
m

e
ca

re
2
0
0
0
/2

0
0
1

2
0
0
1
/2

0
0
2

2
0
0
2
/2

0
0
3

2
0
0
3
/2

0
0
4

2
0
0
4
/2

0
0
5

2
0
0
5
/2

0
0
6

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

cl
ie

n
ts

 (
3
0
 A

p
ri

l)
9
2
7

9
5
7

9
7
4

1
,0

6
0

1
,0

7
8

9
3
7

H
o
u
rs

 p
ro

vi
d
e
d

6
6
7
4

7
3
3
4

7
9
0
0

8
,5

2
7

7
,9

5
8

7
,2

2
1

A
ve

ra
ge

 p
ro

vi
si

o
n

7
.2

0
7
.6

6
8
.1

1
8
.0

4
7
.3

8
7
.7

1

E
xp

e
n
d
it

u
re

2
,3

7
9
,0

4
1

2
,5

0
4
,3

5
2

3
,1

6
4
,4

7
3

3
,7

8
0
,2

4
0

5
,0

2
5
,3

4
3

5
,2

1
1
,7

4
3

N
o
te

s:

(1
) 

T
h
e
 e

xp
e
n
d
it

u
re

 f
ig

u
re

s 
a
re

 e
xc

lu
si

ve
 o

f 
su

p
p
o
rt

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

(2
) 

T
h
e
 2

0
0
5
/
2
0
0
6
 e

xp
e
n
d
it

u
re

 i
s 

e
xc

lu
si

ve
 o

f 
e
q
u
a
l 
p
a
y 

se
tt

le
m

e
n
t

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 4

H
o
m

e
 C

a
re

 A
n
a
ly

si
s 

- 
In

te
rn

a
l 
/ 

E
x
te

rn
a
l 
Sp

li
t

H
o
m

e
ca

re
2
0
0
0
/2

0
0
1

2
0
0
1
/2

0
0
2

2
0
0
2
/2

0
0
3

2
0
0
3
/2

0
0
4

2
0
0
4
/2

0
0
5

2
0
0
5
/2

0
0
6

E
xp

e
n
d
it

u
re

 -
 i
n
te

rn
a
l

2
,3

6
2
,0

7
5

2
,5

0
4
,3

5
2

3
,0

7
5
,1

9
3

3
,6

5
1
,2

5
3

4
,1

3
7
,8

4
3

4
,3

4
6
,1

3
4

E
xp

e
n
d
it

u
re

 -
 e

xt
e
rn

a
l

1
6
,9

6
6

0
8
9
,2

8
0

1
2
8
,9

8
7

8
8
7
,5

0
0

8
6
5
,6

0
9

T
o
ta

l
2
,3

7
9
,0

4
1

2
,5

0
4
,3

5
2

3
,1

6
4
,4

7
3

3
,7

8
0
,2

4
0

5
,0

2
5
,3

4
3

5
,2

1
1
,7

4
3

Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 5

C
a
re

 H
o
m

e
 P

la
ce

m
e
n
ts

 A
n
a
ly

si
s

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l 
/ 

N
u
rs

in
g 

P
la

ce
m

e
n
ts

2
0
0
0
/2

0
0
1

2
0
0
1
/2

0
0
2

2
0
0
2
/2

0
0
3

2
0
0
3
/2

0
0
4

2
0
0
4
/2

0
0
5

2
0
0
5
/2

0
0
6

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

cl
ie

n
ts

 (
M

a
rc

h
)

3
3
1

3
9
9

7
0
1

5
4
7

5
3
9

5
3
1

B
u
d
ge

t
1
,9

8
2
,7

6
5

2
,4

6
3
,4

3
4

4
,6

0
0
,0

6
7

6
,4

1
3
,1

8
5

6
,8

6
9
,1

8
7

6
,8

1
4
,8

9
9

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 6

F
re

e
 P

e
rs

o
n
a
l 
C

a
re

 A
n
a
ly

si
s

F
re

e
 P

e
rs

o
n
a
l 
C

a
re

 -
 E

x
p
e
n
d
it

u
re

2
0
0
2
/2

0
0
3

£
0
0
0

2
0
0
3
/2

0
0
4

£
0
0
0

2
0
0
4
/2

0
0
5

£
0
0
0

2
0
0
5
/2

0
0
6

£
0
0
0

2
0
0
6
/2

0
0
7

£
0
0
0

R
e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l

1
5
8
3

1
8
6
7

1
,9

0
3

1
,8

7
7

1
,6

9
3

C
o
m

m
u
n
it

y
2
4
7
5

2
5
2
3

3
,7

8
5

4
,0

2
9

3
,8

7
7

T
O

T
A

L
S

4
,0

5
8

4
,3

9
0

5
,6

8
8

5
,9

0
6

5
,5

7
0

F
re

e
 P

e
rs

o
n
a
l 
C

a
re

 -
 C

li
e
n
t 

N
u
m

b
e
rs

2
0
0
2
/2

0
0
3

2
0
0
3
/2

0
0
4

2
0
0
4
/2

0
0
5

2
0
0
5
/2

0
0
6

2
0
0
6
/2

0
0
7

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

cl
ie

n
ts

 -
 r

e
si

d
e
n
ti

a
l

2
5
9

3
1
8

3
1
2

2
7
5

2
3
7

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

cl
ie

n
ts

 -
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it

y
9
5

2
1
7

1
7
1

1
7
6

1
1
8

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



1

Health Department 

 Directorate of Health Policy  

Circular No. CCD5/2003 

LA Chief Executives 

LA Directors of Social Work/Chief Social Work Officers 

LA Directors of Finance 

LA Directors of Housing 

Scottish Care 

Housing Associations 

CCP Scotland 

COSLA

NHS Chief Executives

Miss Thea Teale 

Head of Community Care Division 

St Andrew's House 

Regent Road 

Edinburgh EH1 3DG 

Telephone: 0131-244 3742 

Fax: 0131-244 3502 

Anne.Hampson@scotland.gsi.gov.uk 

http://www.scotland.gov.uk 

    29 July  2003

_____ __

Dear Colleague 

Free Personal and Nursing Care – Consolidated Guidance 

This circular consolidates guidance circulars CCD4/2002 – Implementation of Free Personal 

and Nursing Care Guidance and CCD5/2002 – Free Personal and Nursing Care Route 2 

Contract Guidance, issued to local authorities, the NHS and other service providers on 12 

April and 30 May 2002 respectively. 

We hope this will ease reference and intend to further review the consolidated guidance later 

this year when monitoring of the first year of free personal and nursing care has been 

completed. 

It has come to our attention that a few queries have been raised in respect of the route 2 

model contract and that some local authorities and providers are encountering difficulties in 

reaching agreement in respect of some of the clauses within that contract. 

The main point of contention appears to be clause 14.4 which states "The Council will 

continue to pay the Contract Price for a period of fourteen  days from the commencement of 

the Resident’s absence from the Home."  The view of the Scottish Executive is that , although

not specifically provided for in primary legislation or regulations, it would be open to the 

provider to have a clause within their contract with the resident which indicates that where a 

resident is temporarily absent from the Home the resident will become responsible, from day 

fifteen of that absence, for the full cost of their care. 

Other clauses causing concern are 17.1, 22.1 and 25 which cover user agreements, variations 

and the entire contract respectively.  The concern appears to be that these clauses encroach on 

the providers’ ability to review their fees.  As these clauses only apply to the free personal 

and nursing care element of the care package they do not mean that the provider cannot 

charge more for extra services. Clause 22.1 specifically only regulates how a change to the 

contract is made, not what the effect of the change is.  In respect of clauses 17.1 and 25, in 

the case of conflict, the model contract should prevail.

Agenda Item 3dPage 51



2

It is a matter for the local authority and the provider to reach a mutually acceptable contract 

The Scottish Executive cannot intervene in that process. In that connection, local authorities 

will wish to consider taking appropriate internal legal advice in relation to any areas of 

particular concern. However, where a contract cannot be agreed, for reasons unrelated to the 

quality of personal care being provided and where a resident has applied and is eligible for 

free personal/nursing care, local authorities may find it difficult to resist claims for payment 

by the care provider.  It is for the individual local authority to decide how best to comply with 

the regulations and guidance.

While not provided for in primary legislation or regulations, on the basis of the previously 

issued circular CCD5/2002 "Free Personal and Nursing Care Route 2 Contract Guidance" and 

the current consolidated guidance, the local authority is not obliged to pay this element where 

a temporary absence from the care home exceeds fourteen days. The local authority (and 

preferably also the provider) should make this position clear to individual recipients of care at 

the outset.

All enquiries relating to this circular should be addressed to Anne Hampson at the above 

address.  Further copies are available by telephoning George Whitton on 0131 244 5403 or by 

email to: 

George.Whitton@scotland.gsi.co.uk

 The circular is also available at http://www.show.scot.nhs.uk/sehd/ccd.asp and on the Free 

Personal Care website www.scotland.gov.uk/health/freepersonalcare

Yours sincerely 

T S Teale

MISS T S TEALE 

Page 52



3

FREE PERSONAL AND NURSING 

CARE IN SCOTLAND 

Page 53



4

GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES, THE NHS AND OTHER SERVICE 

PROVIDERS

July 2003

(Electronic version – www.scotland.gov.uk/health/freepersonalcare ) 

Page 54



5

GUIDANCE ON FREE PERSONAL AND NURSING CARE IN SCOTLAND

CONTENTS 

Section

1. Introduction

Legislation

Key aspects of the policy 

Attendance Allowance and Disability Living Allowance (care component) 

2. Eligibility 

Needs Assessment 

Care at home 

Definition of personal care 

Interface with Supporting People 

Residential/Nursing Home Care 

Transitional arrangements 

Local eligibility criteria and priorities 

Individuals currently receiving care at home via their local authority 

Individuals currently arranging their own services for care at home 

Monitoring and review of care needs 

Training

Information and advice 

3. Charging and Income Maximisation  

Ending charges for personal care 

Limiting the charge for non-personal care 

Financial Assessment for those in care homes. 

4. Contracts

5. Payment Mechanisms 

6. Monitoring and Accountability 

Annexes

Annex A Annotated extract: Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002 

Annex B Notification of award proforma 

Annex C Nationally Consistent Framework for a Route 2 contract 

Annex D Model Contract 

Page 55



6

1. INTRODUCTION 

1. This circular gives guidance on the action required to implement the Scottish Executive's 

policy on personal and nursing care from 1 July 2002. 

Background

2. On 24 September 2001, Scottish Executive Ministers announced their intention to 

implement in full the recommendations of the Care Development Group (CDG).  Copies of the 

CDG report were circulated at that time to local authorities, NHSScotland and other organisations 

and interests.  Additional copies of the Report and the Executive Summary are available by 

contacting  Community Care Division 1 at the above address or through the free personal care 

website www.scotland.gov.uk/health/freepersonalcare.

3. It was also announced that an Implementation Steering Group (ISG) would be established to 

advise on delivering the new policy across Scotland.  This guidance has been prepared by the ISG 

working with local authorities and through CoSLA, ADSW and established groups within those 

organisations. 

Legislative Process 

4. The Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002 provides the legislative backing for 

implementing free care.  The Act and explanatory notes are available through HMSO or on 

www.scotland-legislation.hmso.gov.uk.   The Act requires that personal and nursing care shall no 

longer be charged for and sets out specific types of care that are not to be charged for, based wholly 

on the recommendations of the Care Development Group.  The Act also enables Ministers to set out 

in regulations detailed provisions concerning the delivery of free care, including making clear who 

will be eligible. 

5. The Community Care (Personal Care and Nursing Care) (Scotland) Regulations 2002 and 

The Community Care (Assessment of Needs) (Scotland) Regulations 2002 were prepared by the 

Scottish Executive to bring the provisions on personal and nursing care into effect on 1 July.  These 

regulations together with the provisions of the Act itself (an annotated extract is at Annex A) 

provide the legislative basis for the delivery of the Executive's policy on free personal and nursing 

care.

Implementation

6. Implementation can be put into 2 broad categories:  

Care in care homes - arrangements for flat rate payments for personal care for those aged 65 and 

over in care homes who currently meet their own care costs and flat rate nursing care payments both 

for over and for under 65s in nursing homes who currently meet their own care costs. 

Care at home - arrangements for adjusting local authority systems for home care charging to 

individuals to take account of free personal care. 

The key aspects of the policy are: 

For those living in their own home

Free personal care is available to those aged  65 and over. 

Page 56



7

All eligibility for free personal care is subject to an assessment of need by the local authority. 

No local authority charge will be made for such personal care services after 1 July 2002. 

Eligibility for free personal care is made irrespective of income, capital assets, marital status or the 

care contribution currently made by an unpaid carer. 

Non personal care services will continue to be subject to charges at the discretion of the local 

authority.

Eligibility for and payment of Attendance Allowance and Disability Living Allowance are not 

affected by the introduction of free personal care. 

For those living in care homes

The provision of payments towards nursing and personal care will apply to those who pay their own 

care costs (self-funders).

Transitional arrangements will apply for those already in residential or nursing homes on 31 March 

2002.  For those people no assessment of need will be required and they will be eligible for a 

payment of £145 for personal care and if receiving nursing care of a further £65 per week. 

For those self-funders entering a care home after 31 March 2002, an assessment of need will be 

required before they become eligible for personal or nursing care payments at the rates above. 

Self-funders will continue to pay the remainder of their own costs, often described as living or 

accommodation costs. 

Attendance Allowance and Disability Living Allowance (care component)  

7. There has been considerable coverage about the effect that receipt of free personal care will 

have on Attendance Allowance and the care component of Disability Living Allowance.  It is 

important that there is clarity about this.  Social security benefits legislation provides that where an 

individual receives funding towards the cost of their place in a care home from a public source, 

payment of Attendance Allowance and the care component of Disability Living Allowance must 

cease 4 weeks after the funding starts.  Some 25,000 people in care homes in Scotland who are 

currently being funded through their local authority are already affected in this way and are not paid 

Attendance Allowance or the care component of Disability Living Allowance. 

8. The people whose Attendance Allowance and Disability Living Allowance (care 

component) payments will be affected by receipt of free personal care are: 

(i) the 7,500 self-funders currently aged 65 and over in care homes in Scotland and 

self-funders in care homes in Scotland who reach age  65 on or after 1 July 2002.  At 

present, they meet the whole costs of their place in the care home entirely from their own 

resources, do not receive any local authority funding and are paid Attendance Allowance or 

the care component of Disability Living Allowance; 

and

(ii) people aged 65 and over receiving Attendance Allowance or the care component of 

Disability Living Allowance who enter a care home on or after 1 July 2002. 

Page 57



8

9. Where any of the people mentioned in paragraph 8 receive personal care payments on or 

after 1 July 2002, payment of their Attendance Allowance or Disability Living Allowance (care 

component) must cease 4 weeks later.  It is their responsibility to report receipt of personal care 

payments to the Department for Work and Pensions as soon as they start to receive it.  If they fail to 

do so, and continue to receive payments to which they are no longer entitled, they are likely to be 

required to repay. 

Receipt of free nursing care by anyone of any age in a care home will not affect their Attendance 

Allowance or Disability Living Allowance. 

Action required by local authorities 

10. This guidance sets out the key actions required by local authorities to ensure measured, 

consistent and effective implementation across Scotland.  Local authorities will need to work 

closely with a number of agencies including the voluntary and independent sector as well as the 

NHS and housing providers so they can provide appropriate information and support to their clients. 

Public Information 

11. The Scottish Executive ran a public information campaign through national and local press 

from late April to late June 2002.  Local authorities will be the main point of contact for local 

enquiries and will therefore wish to prepare staff accordingly.   

Page 58



9

2. ELIGIBILITY 

Needs Assessment 

1. The Care Development Group made clear in its report that all eligibility for free personal 

and nursing care should be subject to an assessment of care needs arranged by the local authority 

except where transitional arrangements should apply for those already in residential and nursing 

homes on 31 March 2002.  These transitional arrangements are set out in paragraphs 15 and 16 

below. 

2. This section focuses on the needs assessment arrangements local authorities have in place 

for assessing the community care needs of individuals.  The guidance here should also be read in 

conjunction with related Scottish Executive Guidance on Assessment and Care Management 

(SWSG 11/91 and SWSG 10/98) and Single Shared Assessment (CCD 8/2001).  Any reference to 

needs assessment should be understood in the context of the implementation of single shared 

assessment, which aims to ensure the needs of individuals are identified as quickly and effectively 

as possible.  Individual care needs assessments should be distinct from any financial assessment, 

which is addressed separately in section 3 of this guidance.

3. The underpinning principle for identifying individual needs is to plan care in the best 

possible way in order to meet the person’s care needs.  Authorities should therefore continue to 

foster a ‘needs-led’ approach when responding to referrals and applications for funding.  In other 

words in order to receive a payment for personal care the individual’s needs must have been 

assessed in order to ascertain whether the personal care in place is the most appropriate.  Authorities 

will need to be clear in their local policies and protocols that funding for personal care will only be 

available for individuals whose needs have been assessed.  Local authorities must assess the overall 

needs of the individual, and should not take for granted care being provided by an unpaid carer.  

From September 2002, the Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002 will require local 

authorities, following an assessment of needs, to take account of the views of the individual and 

their carer, as well as the care the carer is willing and able to provide, before deciding what services 

to provide to the individual. 

Care at Home 

4. From 1 July 2002, local authorities will be responsible for making payments, or not 

charging for, the personal care element of care at home. Local authorities will already have in place 

mechanisms for the assessment of need and provision of care services based on that need.  The 

implementation of free personal care at home should build on these mechanisms. 

5. Authorities will already know the identified needs and services in place for existing 

service users in their areas who are receiving care at home.  There will be systems in place for 

monitoring and reviewing individual needs and there is no reason why the implementation of 

the Executive's policy on personal care should require re-assessments of need for existing 

service users unless individual cases require this.  Action will be required however to 

determine the personal care element the individual is receiving, either to ensure they are not 

charged for it or to make arrangements for a payment towards their care. Guidance on 

payment mechanisms is set out in section 5. 

6. Local authorities should therefore provide clear guidance for staff on what constitutes 

personal and non-personal care including the levels and frequency of tasks related to personal care. 

Page 59



10

7. Local authorities and the NHS will have agreements in place on how personal care 

services are provided locally and by whom.  The implementation of free personal care should 

fit with these arrangements. 

Definition of Personal Care 

8. Sections 1 and 2 and Schedule 1 of the Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 

2002 (annotated extract at Annex A) and the regulations that will be made under the Act 

provide that personal care, as recommended by the Care Development Group, shall be 

provided free by local authorities to those aged 65 and over who need it. 

9. In legal terms, the CDG's definition of personal care covers both personal care and 

personal support (as defined in the Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001).  The Community 

Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002 therefore requires that neither personal care nor 

personal support shall be charged for.  In addition, it specifies that no charge should be made 

for the specific types of care listed in Schedule 1 to the Act (even if they would not be classified 

as personal care or support under the terms of the Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001). 

10. These guidelines offer further explanation of the components of personal care and 

should be read in conjunction with the relevant legislative provisions.

Personal Hygiene

Help with washing as well as bathing and showering is included.

Continence Management

Help with the use of continence equipment is included. 

Problems of Immobility

Only care provided to deal with the effects of immobility which directly meets personal care needs 

as defined in the Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002 is included (ie personal hygiene, 

continence management, eating, simple treatments and personal assistance tasks). 

Food and Diet

Food preparation and provision of meals are not included. However assistance with eating, 

assistance to manage special diets and the assistance with the preparation of specialist meals (eg 

pureed foods) is included. 

Simple Treatments

Assistance with tasks in this component will continue to be in line with any local agreements 

defining task responsibilities of health and care at home staff. 

Personal Assistance

Help to move about indoors is included. 

Page 60



11

Equipment & Adaptations

This policy is related to the provision of social and nursing care not the provision of 

equipment and adaptations.

For the purposes of this policy only memory and safety devices which help individuals to 

manage their own personal care needs are included (eg the use of personal reminder systems 

to allow individuals to manage their medicines or the use of sound/movement alarms linked to 

light controls to guide people with dementia to the toilet and minimise the risks related to 

wandering at night).  Community alarms and other associated devices are not included in this 

policy.

The development of technology in this area is expanding rapidly, as recognised by the Care 

Development Group.  This will be kept under review by the Scottish Executive in relation to 

Supporting People, Joint Future developments and the work of the Strategy Forum: 

Equipment and Adaptations.  Further guidance will follow later this year. 

Interface with Supporting People 

11. Supporting People is a framework that will provide housing support services to a wide range 

of vulnerable people in ways responsive to their needs when it is introduced in April 2003.  From 

that date, housing support services will include any service which provides support, assistance, 

advice or counselling to an individual with particular needs to enable that individual to occupy or 

continue to occupy as the person's sole or main residence, residential accommodation other than 

excepted accommodation.  Excepted accommodation is defined in the Housing (Scotland) Act 2001 

as accommodation, or accommodation of a type, specified as such in regulations made by Scottish 

Ministers.

12. In practice, however, in many cases these services are being provided as part of a package of 

care.  This package may include some services which are personal care and others which are non-

personal care services and may include a wide range of different services provided by landlords to 

their tenants.  The main areas where there is close linkage between housing support services and 

personal care are counselling and support, behaviour management and assistance with personal 

safety.  For the purposes of identifying the elements of personal care which should be free, local 

authorities should exclude all services illustrated as eligible for transitional housing benefit in DSS 

circulars: A47/99, A8/2000 (Scotland), A10/2000, A10/2001, A47/2001 and Supporting People 

Consultation Paper on the Definitions of Housing Support Services available at 

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/housing/supportingpeople.  Similarly local authorities should exclude 

services which are part of a housing support plan or are offered as a condition of tenancy - ie 

warden services. 

13. The Scottish Executive will be preparing regulations to define prescribed housing support 

services coming under the remit of Supporting People from 1 April 2003.  Further guidance will be 

issued later this year. 

Residential/ Nursing Home Care 

14. From April 2002 Residential and Nursing Homes will come under the umbrella term: ‘Care 

Home’.  Local authorities will not be required to assess the needs of older people who were in a 

care home on a privately funded basis on or prior to 31 March 2002.  The transitional arrangements 

set out below will apply for these people.  However, after this date, everyone who applies for 

payment towards their care in a care home will require to have a comprehensive needs assessment 

Page 61



12

to ascertain how best their care needs may be met, and whether a care home is the most appropriate 

setting.  In some cases the outcome of the assessment may determine that the person’s needs could 

easily be met in their own home.  In order to avoid disappointment as far as possible for individuals 

and their families, authorities should ensure there are clear protocols and guidance for staff as well 

as encouraging care home owners and managers to ensure prospective self-funding residents are 

aware of the parameters for public funding. 

Transitional arrangements for those in residential and nursing homes on 31 March 2002. 

15. The Scottish Executive accepted the Care Development Group's recommendation that all 

those aged 65 and over who currently pay their own care costs (self-funders) in residential and 

nursing homes from a set date should not require to have their care needs assessed by the local 

authority to access free care.  There are approximately 7,500 people in this category at any one time 

across Scotland.  If these individuals wish to seek the flat rate payments towards their care costs 

they will have to notify the local authority in which they are resident.  Those in residential homes at 

31 March 2002 will be entitled to the flat rate payment of £145 per week from 1 July 2002.  Those 

in nursing homes on 31 March 2002 will be entitled to the personal care payment and the flat rate 

nursing care payment of £65 making a total of £210 per week. 

16. The public information campaign will target these individuals as well as the wider public, 

care recipients and their carers.  However, local authorities will also wish to: 

take steps to identify the numbers of self-funders in their areas; and 

advise self-funders who enquire about/apply for free personal care about the effect that 

receipt of free personal care will have on their Attendance Allowance or Disability 

Living Allowance (care component) payments. 

For the convenience of the individual and to ensure that the Department for Work and Pensions is 

given the information it requires, a standard form may be used by local authorities.  An example 

proforma is at Annex B. 

17. The introduction of free personal and nursing care will not change the existing residential 

care charging arrangements under the National Assistance Act 1948 and the National Assistance 

(Assessment of Resources) Regulations 1992 (as amended for Scotland).  These are set out in more 

detail in Section 3. 

Local eligibility criteria and priorities 

18. Local authorities will need to have in place agreed eligibility criteria for assessments of need 

and priorities for the provision of and access to services based on need.  Many authorities will have 

these in place already and there is no requirement on authorities to change these arrangements.  

Following a needs assessment, payment towards personal care should commence when the 

authority is in a position to arrange or provide the required services.  It is important that people 

receive services on the basis of prioritising the care needs of older people rather than on individuals’ 

ability to pay. 

Individuals currently receiving care at home services via their local authority 

19. In preparation for the implementation of this policy, local authorities will need to 

agree with individuals currently receiving care at home services the level of personal care and 

non personal care they receive in their service.  Whilst a reassessment of care needs may be 

Page 62



13

necessary in some cases according to individual circumstances it is envisaged that a review of 

the person's financial contribution using existing mechanisms may be sufficient.  Local 

authorities will then have to calculate whether there needs to be an adjustment to any charges 

the individual is currently paying for their care package.  Guidance on charging is set out in 

Section 3. 

Individuals currently arranging their own services for care at home 

20. Individuals who currently arrange their own services and who wish to access free 

personal care will only be able to do so following an assessment of care need arranged by the 

local authority.  Delivery of care must be based on local protocols and when the local 

authority is in a position to provide for the required services.  Access to assessment for these 

individuals should also be prioritised in line with local criteria. 

21. In some cases when individuals have made private arrangements a needs assessment 

arranged by the local authority may suggest the individual is receiving services over and 

above their level of need according to the assessment.  In this case local authorities will 

provide a contribution towards the cost of care up to the level of assessed need only and in line 

with local criteria for range, level and frequency of service provision.

22. Guidance on payment mechanisms for those who are currently arranging their own 

care and who are subsequently assessed as needing personal care services and wish to 

continue with the same providers is set out in Section 5.

Monitoring and Reviewing Care Needs 

23. Formal monitoring and review systems and time-scales should be in place to respond 

to the changing care needs of individuals.  For those in care homes, these systems should be in 

line with the national care standards for care homes for older people.  Protocols should be 

clear to staff who are responsible for responding to individual circumstances where the 

person’s needs may have suddenly changed due to a crisis in their situation, for example 

because of the onset of an acute illness, or the death of a main carer. 

Training 

24. Single shared assessment processes will bring a wider range of staff involvement and 

skills to these arrangements.  Local authorities and other organisations should therefore 

ensure that staff training and development is given a high priority on joint training agendas. 

Clarity of information 

25. Local authorities will need to be clear in their local policies and priorities.  As part of 

their ongoing public information strategies, local authorities should make explicit that a 

contribution towards the costs of personal and nursing care will be set according to the 

individual's needs that are identified at the time of the practitioner’s assessment and be in line 

with local protocols.  Payments will take effect when the local authority is in a position to 

provide for or arrange the required services. 

26. Local authorities will also need to provide clear information on what constitutes 

personal care, on criteria for eligibility for services and for the range, level and frequency of 

service provision.  Local authorities should also consider how service users who currently 

privately arrange their care can be provided with information about how to access a 

Page 63



14

community care needs assessment which may act as a passport to receiving payment for 

personal care. 

Page 64



15

3. CHARGING AND INCOME MAXIMISATION 

Care at Home Services 

1. Under the provisions of the Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002 and the 

Community Care (Personal and Nursing Care) Scotland Regulations 2002, local authorities will no 

longer be able to charge individuals aged 65 and over for the personal care element of care at home 

services from 1 July 2002. 

2. Other, non-personal care remains chargeable and local authorities will need to provide clear, 

good quality information to older people and their carers on their charges for care at home services. 

3. The Care Development Group report recommended a greater degree of consistency and 

transparency in local authorities’ charging regimes for non-personal care services.  The Community 

Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002 provides new powers for the Executive to regulate charging 

for non-residential care services.  At the same time, CoSLA has been developing guidance designed 

to standardise approaches to charging for non-residential care services for older people across 

Scotland.  Where possible, the new procedures for charging for non-residential care should come 

into effect alongside the adjustments required to take account of the introduction of free personal 

care.  The Executive has made clear that it will hold its regulatory powers in reserve until CoSLA's 

work has been evaluated. 

4. Consequently, this guidance concentrates on the recommendations for charging for non-

personal care and income maximisation policies contained in the CDG report.  It does not deal with 

the implications of the CoSLA policy. 

5. This part of the guidance covers all non-residential care services where personal care is 

offered, such as: 

care at home services; 

day care; 

respite care and shared care; and 

adult placement services. 

The definition of personal care and its interaction with Supporting People are set out in Section 2 of 

this guidance. 

Ending Charges for Personal Care at Home

6. Prior to the implementation of free personal care, local authorities will need to determine the 

level of personal care and non-personal care for each individual receiving care at home.  Local 

authorities should decide if a full care reassessment is necessary or a review of a person’s financial 

contribution would suffice.  Local authorities must ensure that they do not take for granted the care 

contribution currently being made by an unpaid carer, and that any reassessment takes account of 

the amount of care an unpaid carer is willing and able to provide.  Some local authorities may 

already separately record details of personal and non-personal care and may be able to use this to 

adjust charges.  All local authorities should ensure that they can split the care package into the 

personal and non-personal care elements for charging purposes. 

7. Once the level of non-personal care has been identified, local authorities should calculate the 

revised charge by applying this to their charging regime.  It is recognised that the scale of this 

Page 65



16

process will vary from authority to authority and they will need to decide how best to undertake the 

task.  However, it must be stressed that all charges for personal care in an individual’s home will 

cease from 1 July 2002. 

8. Local authorities should continue to grant individuals up to 4 weeks’ free care at home after 

discharge from hospital as required in circular CCD 2/2001. 

Limiting the Charge for Non-Personal Care

9. Many individuals will receive a reduction in their charge as a result of the personal care 

element being provided free.  It is likely that a number of individuals will see no reduction in their 

charge if they are receiving non-personal care services, particularly where the local authority 

currently makes a small, capped charge and it is less than the cost of providing the non-personal 

care.

10. The Care Development Group recommended that nobody should pay more in the short term 

as a result of the introduction of free personal care.  Local authorities must therefore ensure that 

from 1 July 2002 until at least 31 March 2003 no individual is charged more than they were 

previously paying, unless a reassessment of their care needs results in an increase in the level of 

non-personal care service provided. 

11. Local authorities must also ensure that any charge for non-personal care does not exceed the 

cost of providing that service to each individual. 

Providing Information on Charging Policies

12. All local authorities must provide good quality information on their charging policies.  This 

will help service users, their carers and their families understand how their charges are calculated 

and how the local authority will collect them.  Information on their policies for waiving and abating 

charges, how to apply for these and the method used to consider such requests should also be 

included in the material. 

Income Maximisation

13. It is recommended that all local authorities in Scotland put in place income maximisation 

services.  A number of local authorities currently offer an income maximisation service investing in 

staffing resources, publicity material, IT systems and training. 

14. Those authorities yet to develop an income maximisation service should now begin to do so 

for the forthcoming financial year.  Provision for infrastructure costs has been made in the financial 

settlement and local authorities may wish to use some of this money to fund the necessary set up 

and running costs.  It is also recommended that consultation with authorities already delivering 

these services should be undertaken and those authorities developing or improving their service 

should adopt best practice. 

Financial Assessment for those in Care Homes 

15. The existing residential care charging and financial assessment arrangements under the 

National Assistance Act 1948 and the National Assistance (Assessment of Resources) Regulations 

1992 (as amended for Scotland) will remain in place with the following exceptions:  

free personal and nursing care

Page 66



17

the new rules on topping up and deferred payment of care home fees which will also come into 

effect on 1 July 2002.  Separate guidance on these issues will be issued shortly. 

16. However, the local authority contribution to an individual's total care home costs will need 

to take account of the provisions of the Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002 and the 

regulations to be made under the Act.  In practice for those aged 65 and over, there will be 3 main 

cases as follows. 

a) People who currently receive care funded by the local authority and contribute only their state 

pension and benefit income: 

Such people effectively already benefit from free personal care and the existing financial 

arrangements will continue. 

b) People who currently receive care supported by the local authority but who contribute a greater 

amount, from sources including their state pension, tariff income from capital between the 

lower and upper capital limits or other income such as occupational pension: 

Where, following the financial assessment, the local authority contribution to the total care home 

costs of people not needing nursing care is less than £145 per week, it will need to be increased to 

£145.  Similarly, where the local authority contribution to the total care home costs of those needing 

personal and nursing care is less than £210 per week, it will need to be increased to £210. 

Where such people are already receiving the equivalent amounts for personal and/or nursing care (ie 

following the financial assessment, the current local authority contribution to their total care home 

costs is at least £145 per week for personal care or £210 per week for personal and nursing care) the 

existing financial arrangements will continue. 

c) People who currently fund their care home fees in full because they have capital over the upper capital 

limit

Such people in residential or nursing homes on 31 March 2002 and those entering care homes 

assessed as needing personal and/or nursing care will receive either £145 or £210 per week. 

Page 67



18

4. CONTRACTS

1. The introduction of free personal and nursing care will require local authorities to put in 

place contractual arrangements for those who under current financial assessment arrangements 

would not qualify for public sector support towards their care costs.  Previously, these people would 

not have been included in the existing arrangements between local authorities and the voluntary and 

independent care sectors.

2. Current contractual arrangements between local authorities and provider agencies are 

complex and varied, particularly for residential and nursing homes. Most contracts have a core 

consistency based on the Scottish guidance on contracting for residential and nursing home care for 

adults prepared and published by the ADSW Contracts Group in 1996.  However, almost all local 

authorities have developed specific local arrangements to reflect local circumstances and in line 

with each authority's standing orders. 

3. It is recognised that there are a number of contractual issues currently under consideration 

between local authorities and provider agencies including responsibility for third party 

contributions, contract compliance, care home fee levels generally and arrangements for 'approved' 

providers.  These negotiations should continue but should not impede the process to put in place 

arrangements for free personal and nursing care from 1 July 2002.  In this respect, the Scottish 

Executive wishes to see a fair and nationally consistent approach across Scotland to the payment of 

fees and charges for personal and nursing care. 

Routes for contractual arrangements

4. There are 3 routes for contractual arrangements for individuals, local authorities and 

provider agencies in relation to payments for personal and nursing care in care homes and for 

personal care at home.  Individuals must be able to choose which route they wish to take.  

This will require flexibility in approach from local authorities and voluntary and independent 

care providers. 

Route 1 

The Self-Determined Route 

This can be taken for 2 reasons: 

the individual decides not to apply for personal or nursing care payments, chooses not 

to have a local authority assessment and enters into a contractual arrangement 

privately and independently with the provider agency 

the individual may apply for personal and/or nursing care payments but be assessed by 

the local authority as not having a level of need which makes the individual eligible for 

personal and/or nursing care payments.  The individual can choose to enter into a 

contractual arrangement privately and independently with the provider agency. 

Route 2 

The Mutual Route 

Page 68



19

This route involves the individual applying for personal and/or nursing care payments and 

being assessed as having a level of need which makes the individual eligible for payments.  

This route is likely to be for care home provision rather than care at home. 

The individual wishes to receive the flat rate payments for personal and/or nursing care but 

wishes to continue to have or to set up a direct contractual relationship with the provider 

agency for the other elements of their care - ie the hotel/accommodation/living costs.  This 

route may be chosen because the individual wishes to negotiate and purchase a care package 

or care home place in a place of their choosing and to their specification ie outwith any 

existing contractual arrangement the local authority may have with that establishment and 

does not wish to involve the local authority in their private contractual agreement. 

In these circumstances the individual will use 2 contracts, one privately with the provider 

agency, and the other nationally consistent contract for payments for personal and/or nursing 

care.  This contract will be between the local authority on behalf of the individual and the 

provider agency and will relate solely to personal and/or nursing care payments.  A 

framework for such a contract is attached as Annex C.  Payments for personal and nursing 

care will be made to the care home not the individual. 

Route 3 

The Integrated Route 

This route involves the individual applying for personal and/or nursing care payments and 

being assessed as having a level of need which makes the individual eligible for personal 

and/or nursing care payments. 

The individual decides to ask the local authority to manage the contractual arrangements on 

their behalf. 

The local authority will use its normal contract for care services or for care homes but the 

contract will have an additional nationally consistent annex which relates solely to the 

personal and/or nursing care payments.  This annex would have close similarities with the 

Route 2 contract outlined in Annex C.   

The advantages of Route 3 for the client is that the local authority’s normal contract will 

usually have certain elements eg: 

restrictions on the level of increases of fees made by provider agencies (excluding any 

adjustment to the flat rate payments for personal and/or nursing care, which are 

determined in regulations); 

agreements on when fees can be increased by provider agencies (excluding the timing 

of any adjustments to the payments for personal and/or nursing care, which will also 

be determined in regulations); and 

an over-arching quality assurance and monitoring of all the care provided. 

Ensuring a nationally consistent contractual framework

Page 69



20

5. A nationally consistent framework is essential. It will not always be straightforward to 

cross-relate 2 different contractual documents but in the interests of equity across Scotland, it 

must be undertaken. 

There are certain critical features that must be nationally consistent, and are therefore set out 

in Annex C.  Examples of issues which will be covered in the nationally consistent contract 

will be: 

1. When payments for personal and/or nursing care can start. 

2. When payments should stop eg after admission to hospital, after death. 

3. The fact that part of payments for personal and/or nursing care cannot be withheld by 

local authorities, as they are standard national payments. 

4. Complaints procedures and the involvement of the Scottish Commission for the 

Regulation of Care (Care Commission). 

5. The responsibilities of the individual, provider agencies and local authority in relation 

to the payment of the fees. 

6. Where the contractual requirements in relation to payments for personal and/or 

nursing care (eg all payments for personal and nursing care will be paid for 3 days after the 

death of the individual) are different from existing local authorities contractual practice, they 

will take precedence in order to ensure national consistency. 

Information for individuals

7. It is important that individuals, their carers, voluntary organisations and advocacy 

bodies are given relevant information about the different contractual arrangements which 

they can fully understand and then act upon. 

8. Local authorities’ staff and others do on occasions have concerns about the lack of 

independent information for individuals and their carers about living in care homes, 

particularly around fees. 

9. Local authorities’ staff, older people's organisations, the voluntary sector and the 

independent care providers all have a critical role to play in assisting and advising individuals 

and their carers about contractual arrangements and fees.  This is especially so when 

individuals and carers approach local authorities’ staff about their eligibility for personal 

and/or nursing care payments. 

10. At this stage, and during the assessment process, local authorities’ staff (or staff from 

other statutory agencies undertaking single shared assessments) should ensure that 

individuals and their carers fully understand the differences between the 3 contractual routes 

set out above. 

11. The Scottish Executive will undertake a joint communication strategy with local 

authorities, voluntary organisations and advocacy bodies to enable staff to advise individuals, 

their families and carers as effectively as possible. 

Effects of payments on existing fees 

Page 70



21

12. It should be clear to individuals that flat rate payments for personal and nursing care 

will be made by the local authority to the care home.  Care home managers will wish to ensure 

that there is clarity in revised billing arrangements.  These arrangements should also reflect 

the National Care Standards for Care Homes for Older People in relation to clarity of 

information regarding fees and fee structures. 

13. It is important that the full financial benefit of the personal and nursing care policy is 

passed on to the individual who should see a consequent reduction in their care home fees.  If 

it becomes evident that this is not happening, it should be reported to the Scottish Executive. 

Summary 

14. This Guidance cannot cover all the potential issues that may arise around contractual 

arrangements.

The 3 Routes to contractual arrangements do, however, offer a framework which: 

ensures individuals’ freedom to choose; 

ensures individuals’ right to privacy particularly over their financial situation while 

they obtain the national payments for which they are eligible; 

recognises the complexity and variability of the current contractual arrangements 

between local authorities and provider agencies; 

builds on these existing contractual arrangements; and 

ensures a nationally consistent framework for payments for personal and/or nursing 

care.

15. In practice, there will be a number of contractual matters that will require clarity 

locally as the Care Commission takes up its responsibilities for inspection, registration, 

standards and quality from 1 April 2002.  As a general rule, these issues should be resolved 

locally. However, the Executive would wish to be informed where local dispute is impeding 

implementation of the policy on free personal and nursing care. 

Page 71



22

5. PAYMENT MECHANISMS 

1. All local authorities already have in place payment mechanisms for residential and nursing 

homes, day care and other services.  Some of these will be on an individual spot-purchase basis, 

some on block contract and some on a mixture of systems.  Some authorities also have direct 

payment systems in place for care at home.  Arrangements for payments for personal and nursing 

care from 1 July 2002 should build on these existing mechanisms where possible. 

Each payment mechanism will involve a range of systems including: 

a contract or agreement with the individual person, or private and voluntary sector agency 

about the use of money; 

billing systems/invoices; and 

payment of the money into relevant bank accounts, either individual or agency. 

For those in care homes, the payments for personal and nursing care will be made to the care 

home - not the individual.  

The following sections seek to identify a number of arrangements that may be required. 

a) Private or voluntary sector agencies providing home-based care services

Private or voluntary sector agencies providing personal care services to an individual

Where the agency is currently providing personal care which is being paid for by an individual then 

the local authority will arrange a care needs assessment.  A decision will be made about the 

appropriate number of personal care hours that the individual needs.  Following completion of the 

appropriate local authority paperwork or IT steps, the local authority and agency can enter into their 

usual contract/agreement about payment mechanisms, eg: 

existing invoice systems; 

date in the month to be paid; 

hours or work, and days of the week for the service; 

tasks to be undertaken; 

bank account for payment to be made etc; 

all other details; and 

regular bank statements for the account. 

b) Private or voluntary sector agencies providing personal care and/or nursing care 

services in residential care homes or nursing homes

Local authorities are not required to arrange care assessments for individuals meeting their own care 

costs on or before 31 March 2002 as they will be blanketed into the personal and nursing care 

payment system if they wish to take up the payments. 

Contractual arrangements as set out in section 4 of this guidance will have to be agreed between the 

local authority and the care home for these individuals.  The amounts payable for personal and 

Page 72



23

nursing care are set at a flat rate nationally and should not result in protracted negotiations over 

these elements of an individual's existing care package. 

Those entering care homes on or after 1 April 2002 will have to undergo a full needs assessment 

arranged by the local authority if they wish public sector support for their care costs and contractual 

arrangements set out in Section 4 will apply. 

c) Local authorities providing personal care services through their in-house home care 

service or residential care homes

Where home-based care is currently being provided, local authorities will need to agree with the 

individual, the careworker and if appropriate their carer, what is the level of personal care and the 

level of non-personal care within the services being provided by the local authority.

There will be no payment to the individual since the service is in-house but there may be a 

reduction in the level of charges as set out in section 3 of this guidance.  The resources available to 

implement the policy contain an element to compensate local authorities for the loss of income 

because they can no longer charge for personal care. 

For people starting to receive home-based personal care a full community care assessment must be 

completed, the volume of personal care to be provided in response to the assessed need recorded, 

and an appropriate level of charging for non-personal care ascertained by the local authorities' staff. 

d) Individuals who either currently, or will in the future, purchase personal care services 

on an independent basis

It is important to be clear that an assessment of need for personal care must be undertaken by a local 

authority.  This must identify the need for personal care.  Only then can payments be made. 

Local authorities have powers to make payments to people with disabilities to enable them to 

purchase their own personal care through a direct payments arrangement.  However, at present only 

about 50% of local authorities offer direct payments.  A provision in the Community Care and 

Health (Scotland) Act 2002 will make it a duty for all local authorities to offer eligible people direct 

payments from June 2003 as an alternative to organising services for them.  A further provision will 

extend eligibility to include all community care groups.  It is anticipated that this provision will 

come into effect from Spring 2004. 

The Implementation Steering Group (ISG), in conjunction with the Care Commission, decided that 

a local authority should inform individuals currently purchasing personal care independently that 

they should: 

request direct payments (where this is available and appropriate); or 

request the careworker currently providing personal care should work through a provider 

agency approved by the local authority. 

Payments would then be made through the existing mechanisms. 

The disadvantage of this way forward is that it may upset existing arrangements where an 

individual has a well established relationship with a careworker who is not or does not wish to work 

through an approved agency. 

Page 73



24

However, the Scottish Executive and local authorities must ensure that individuals receive quality 

services at home, and there is no current national system for accrediting or quality assuring 

careworkers who do not work for an approved agency. 

e) Payments to agencies not approved by local authorities or registered with health 

boards

Agencies providing care at home services should either currently be: 

1. nursing agencies registered by Health Boards; or 

2. home care agencies which have been placed on local authorities' Approved Providers 

List.

After 1 April 2002, the Care Commission will regulate care homes for adults, home care and 

independent health care. 

Until the Care Commission is able to undertake its full range of functions, local authorities will 

need to decide how they wish to work with agencies that are not registered nursing agencies or 

approved providers, but are providing personal care services at home, eg: 

if it is possible before 1 July 2002, approve the agency, possibly on a conditional basis, 

with an agreed action plan for full approval

ask the individual to accept a service from an approved agency.  This may cause 

difficulties for the individual but will provide safeguards. 

Local authorities and agencies can discuss issues with the Care Commission. 

f) Nursing care payments in care homes

In future, there will only be one category of home - the care home.  The distinction between a 

nursing home and a residential care home will be replaced by a new category of a care home which 

will be regulated by the Care Commission. 

The decision about the nursing care payments cannot then be made on the basis of the type of home.  

It will be made on the basis of a national tool called the Resource Use Measure (RUM).  The 

national RUM is being developed by the Scottish Executive to be applied in conjunction with 

individual needs assessments.  The aim is to have one, national RUM to be applied incrementally 

across Scotland from July 2002 with full implementation from April 2003.  The RUM is being 

designed to place individuals into bands of need on the basis of information from the needs 

assessment (ie single, shared assessment) and it will inform the determination of the individual’s 

entitlement to payment for personal/nursing care. 

In the interim, local authorities will need to ensure that for those self-funders who are assessed as 

needing nursing care in a care home outwith that provided by the NHS community nursing services, 

the flat rate nursing care payment of £65 per week is made to the care home. 

g) Residency Rules 

In order for local authorities to make payments on behalf of individuals, they will need to satisfy 

themselves that the individuals qualify on the basis of "ordinary residence" in their area.  Current 

Page 74



25

legislation does not provide for residency qualifications to be imposed beyond those implied by 

'ordinary residence' as set out in Circular No SWSG 1/96.  The Executive will be reviewing this 

guidance in the coming months in consultation with CoSLA. 

h) Cross-border placements 

Scottish local authorities will occasionally make arrangements for clients who are ordinarily 

resident in their area to be placed in care homes in England, Wales or Northern Ireland.  In such 

circumstances the individual will be eligible for personal and nursing care payments from the 

Scottish placing local authority. 

Placements in Scotland of people ordinarily resident in local authority areas in England, Wales and 

Northern Ireland will not be eligible for personal and nursing care payments.  Funding 

responsibility for such placements rests with the English, Welsh or Northern Ireland placing local 

authority.

It is important to note that there are established UK wide principles determining "ordinary 

residence" and these continue to apply in respect of funding responsibility for personal and nursing 

care payments.  Further information on this is provided in the published guidance (SWSG 1/96). 

i) Hospital admission

When an individual is admitted to hospital from a care home, the local authority will continue to 

make personal and nursing care payments at full rate for 2 weeks after admission. 

When an individual is admitted to hospital from their own home and is receiving direct payments 

for their personal care, the local authority will continue to make payments for personal care for 

2 weeks after admission. 

j) Individuals who have privately contracted to pay for more service than they have been 

assessed as needing

Staff in local authorities, particularly those involved in care needs assessment and finance staff, 

should understand clearly that payments for nursing care and/or personal care can only be made on 

the basis of the assessment which sets out the services that the individual needs. 

If the individual has already agreed or in future agrees to a more comprehensive or a greater 

package of care than the assessor decides is required, either in their own home or in a care home, 

the individual can pay for that service from their own resources, in a separate financial arrangement 

with the independent sector provider. This applies both to care at home arrangements and to 

nursing and residential care homes. 

Individuals living in their own homes in the community are not eligible for nursing care payments. 

k) Start date of payments and retrospective payments

From 1 July 2002, payments will commence once the nursing and/or personal care service is being 

provided.  It does not start before and will not be backdated, eg to the date of referral or assessment. 

For home-based personal care services currently being purchased by self-funders before 1 July 

2002, payment will commence once the assessment is completed after 1 July 2002, the agreement 

Page 75



26

on the appropriate level of care is reached, and the service has been or is being provided by or on 

behalf of the local authority. 

l) Use of payments by self-funders 

The Care Development Group's Report states that, “in relation to personal care, we recommend that 

the payment should be equivalent to the amount which would have been spent by the local authority 

on meeting the assessed personal care needs of that person had they remained in their own home, up 

to a maximum of £90 per week”. 

This recommendation has been superseded by the Scottish Executive's decision to make nursing or 

personal care payments (which will be standard payments) only if an individual is assessed as 

needing care in a residential care home, nursing home or single care home and is living in such a 

home. 

m) Free home care for up to 4 weeks after discharge from hospital 

Under existing arrangements, individuals are entitled to up to 4 weeks free home care (covering 

personal and non-personal care) after discharge from hospital.  The introduction of free personal 

and/or nursing care will make no difference to these arrangements. 

n) Opting in/out of the payment system for personal care and/or nursing care 

It is the individual’s responsibility to approach the local authority if they want to seek public sector 

support for their care costs.  If they are resident in a care home and in receipt of Attendance 

Allowance or Disability Living Allowance (care component), they must notify the Department for 

Work and Pensions accordingly so these can be stopped in accordance with the rules.

It is the responsibility of the local authority to make payments to provider agencies and individuals 

with direct payment arrangements.  It may choose to identify individuals in ways that are locally 

appropriate.

All providers can notify the local authority on behalf of existing self-funders provided the 

self-funder agrees.

With new applications for payments, it is the responsibility of the individual or someone acting on 

their behalf and with their consent to ask for an assessment.  This can be a carer, advocate or 

provider.

o) Payments for short-term nursing care and personal care 

There may be occasions where individuals need to have nursing or personal care on a short-term 

basis:

for respite care; 

in an emergency or crisis, for instance if a carer or relative is suddenly taken ill and are 

unable to look after the individual; and 

for a trial period - to explore whether they would prefer to move into a care home on a 

permanent basis. 

For these short-term requirements, local authorities should satisfy themselves that the individual's 

care needs are being properly met.  Payments for personal and/or nursing care should be paid on the 

Page 76



27

basis of the records kept either by the local authority or the home which should indicate the level of 

need.  A guiding principle here should be that individuals should not be treated any less generously 

under these arrangements than they would otherwise have been. 

Page 77



28

6. MONITORING AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

1. The Care Development Group emphasised the need to monitor the implementation and 

impact of the new policy on personal and nursing care.  Arrangements will need to be put in place 

in advance of 1 July 2002 to ensure monitoring can start when the policy comes into effect.  It will 

not cover issues such as contract compliance as this should continue to be undertaken according to 

agreed practice locally.  Similarly it will not cover monitoring of quality of care as this too should 

comply with local authorities' care management processes and be covered by the Care Commission. 

2. The purpose of the arrangements will be to provide an overview for all interested parties of 

the deployment and outcome of the resources available for the new policy and to measure shifts in 

the balance and volume of care and in the ways care is provided. 

3. As a first step, there is a need to monitor expenditure against the funding that has been made 

available to local authorities for the policy over the next 2 financial years.  Local authorities will 

receive their allocations of the £250m allocated for 2002-04.  The provision falls into 2 broad 

categories: 

compensation for the personal and nursing care charges of self-funding residents; and 

provision towards the development of community based services. 

4. Local authorities will be required to identify expenditure against provision in these 

2 categories separately and provide quarterly returns to the Scottish Executive.  

Page 78



  ANNEX A 

      1

Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002 
[ANNOTATED EXTRACT]

1 Regulations as respects charging and not charging for social care 

(A) Subject to subsection (2)(a) below, a local authority are not to charge for social care

provided by them (or the provision of which is secured by them) if that social care is—

(b) personal care as defined in section 2(28) of the Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001 

(asp 8) [“personal care” means care which relates to the day to day physical tasks and needs of the 

person cared for (as for example, but without prejudice to that generality, to eating and washing) and to 

mental processes related to those tasks and needs (as for example, but without prejudice to that generality, 

to remembering to eat and wash)];

(c) personal support as so defined [“personal support” means counselling, or other help, provided as part 

of a planned programme of care];

(d) whether or not such personal care or personal support, care of a kind for the time being 

mentioned in schedule 1 to this Act; or 

(e) whether or not from a registered nurse, nursing care.

2 Accommodation provided under 1968 Act etc. 

For the purposes of the definition of “social care” in section 22(1) and (2) of this Act, of 

sections 22 (charges to be made for accommodation), 26 (provision of accommodation in premises 

maintained by voluntary organisations) and 65 (general provisions as to application to Scotland) of 

the 1948 Act and of section 87(2) and (3) (charges that may be made for accommodation) of the 

1968 Act, the Scottish Ministers may by regulations determine what is and what is not to be 

regarded as accommodation provided under the 1968 Act or under section 7 of the 1984 Act 

(arrangements in relation to persons who are or have been suffering from mental disorder). 

22. Interpretation 

(1) In this Act— 

(A) “the 1948 Act” means the National Assistance Act 1948 (c.29); “the 1968 Act” means the 

Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 (c.49);  “the 1984 Act” means the Mental Health (Scotland) Act 

1984 (c.36); and 

(B)  “social care” means, subject to subsection (2) below, a service provided— 

(a) under the 1968 Act; or 

(b) under section 7 (arrangements in relation to persons who are or have been suffering from 

mental disorder) or 8 (provision of after-care services for such persons) of the 1984 Act, 

(A) to an individual by a local authority or a service the provision of which to an individual, 

under the 1968 Act or either of those sections, is secured by a local authority. 

(2) In this Act, “social care” does not include a service which (or so much of a service as) consists of 

the provision of accommodation; but in the definition of the expression in subsection (1) above, the 

references to a service being provided are to the provision of any other form of assistance 

(including, without prejudice to that generality, the provision of advice, guidance or a material 

thing).

Page 79



  ANNEX A 

      2

SCHEDULE 1 

3 SOCIAL CARE NOT ORDINARILY CHARGED FOR

[Whether or not personal care (see section  1(1)(a) or personal support (see 1(1)(b)] 

1 As regards the personal hygiene of the person cared for— 

(a) shaving;

(b) cleaning teeth (whether or not they are artificial) by means of a brush or dental floss 

and (in the case of artificial teeth) by means of soaking;  

(c) providing assistance in rinsing the mouth; 

(d) keeping finger nails and toe nails trimmed; 

(e) assisting the person with going to the toilet or with using a bedpan or other 

receptacle; 

(f) where the person is fitted with a catheter or stoma, providing such assistance as is 

requisite to ensure cleanliness and that the skin is kept in a favourable hygienic 

condition;

(g) where the person is incontinent— 

(i) the consequential making of the person’s bed and consequential changing and 

laundering of the person’s bedding and clothing; and 

(ii) caring for the person’s skin to ensure that it is not adversely affected. 

2 As regards the person’s eating requirements— 

(a) assisting with the preparation of food;  

(b) assisting in the fulfilment of special dietary needs. 

[Eating and washing is explicitly included within the definition of personal care (see 1(1)(a)] 

3 If the person is immobile or substantially immobile, dealing with the problems of that immobility. 

4 If the person requires medical treatment, assisting with medication, as for example by— 

(a) applying creams or lotions; 

(b) administering eye drops; 

(c) applying dressings in cases where this can be done without the physical involvement 

of a registered nurse or of a medical practitioner; 

(d) assisting with the administration of oxygen as part of a course of therapy. 

5 With regard to the person’s general well-being— 

(a) assisting with getting dressed; 

(b) assisting with surgical appliances, prosthesis and mechanical and manual equipment; 

(c) assisting with getting up and with going to bed; 

(d) the provision of devices to help memory and of safety devices; 

(e) behaviour management and psychological support. 

[Counselling, or other help, provided as part of a planned programme of care is explicitly included within the definition of 

personal support (see 1(1)(b)] 

Page 80



  ANNEX B 

Notification of Award of Personal Care Payment Towards Care Home Costs

National Insurance No.               

Surname Mr Mrs Miss Ms 

Other Names  

Address

 Postcode 

Date of birth   / / 

Date funding started   / / 

Local Authority name  

Local Authority  

address or stamp 

Postcode

Date of admission to home   / / 

Declaration

I declare

that the individual concerned has given permission for this information to be passed on to the 

Department for Work and Pensions. 

Signature

Date  / / 

Page 81



ANNEX C 

1

Nationally Consistent Framework for a Route 2 Contract Between Local Authorities and 

Independent Sector Care Homes 

INTRODUCTION

1. This model contract has been developed by the Executive to guide and support both local 

authorities and care providers as they develop and agree their own Route 2 contracts as part of 

the implementation of the Executive's policy on free personal and nursing care. 

2. As described in Section 4, a service user who chooses to go down Route 2, the mutual route, 

will use 2 contracts, one private contract between himself and the care home for hotel and living 

costs, and a second nationally consistent contract for personal and/or nursing care.  This second 

contract will be between the local authority on behalf of the service user and the care provider 

and will relate solely to the provision of and payments towards personal and/or nursing care. 

3. Where appropriate, in the interests of national consistency and equity, core contract conditions 

should be incorporated into tripartite contracts agreed under Route 3, the integrated route. 

Background

4. The Route 2 contract is a contract between a local authority and a care provider for the 

provision of personal and/or nursing care to a care home resident in return for the flat rate 

payments set down in regulations of the Scottish Parliament (currently £145 per week for 

personal care and £65 for nursing care.)  It can only be used for those residents who have 

entered or will enter into a private agreement with the care provider for the other parts of their 

care package (i.e. their accommodation/"hotel" costs) but who have asked the local authority to 

contribute towards their care costs in accordance with the Executive's policy on free personal 

and nursing care. 

5. For further information on Route 2 contracts and on the different contractual options available 

to existing care home residents and those entering residential care, see Section 4: Contracts. 

The Role of the Model Contract 

6. This guidance is aimed at ensuring that local authorities and care providers can agree Route 2 

contracts which are nationally consistent in time for the 1 July implementation date for the 

Executive's policy on free personal and nursing care.  The model contract has been developed in 

conjunction with local authorities and the private care sector and should serve as the basis for all 

Route 2 contracts. 

7. In particular, the model contract, together with this circular, seeks to clarify which aspects of a 

Route 2 contract need to be consistent across Scotland, regardless of which local authority and 

which service provider are signatories to the contract.  For example, the conditions under which 

the contract can be terminated and the length of time for which payments will continue after the 

death of the Resident are set out in the model contract and should be replicated in all Route 2 

contracts.  Similarly the pre-conditions which must be met before a Route 2 contract can be 

entered into, the length of time for which payments will continue if the resident is temporarily 

absent from the home and the amount of the contract price should be the same in all Route 2 

contracts.

Page 82



ANNEX C 

2

8. Other elements of the model contract are intended as a suggestion or starting point, but may 

need to be varied to reflect existing local practices, local authority standing orders etc.  For 

example, this is true of parts of those clauses which relate to the monitoring and review of the 

resident's care needs. 

9. It is also possible that local authorities and/or care providers may wish to expand certain parts of 

the model contract to avoid any room for misunderstanding or ambiguity.  For example, the 

model contract refers to the local authority's "usual payment mechanisms" to reflect the existing 

variations from authority to authority.  However, both local authorities and care providers are 

likely to see it as desirable that the particular payment mechanisms to be used are described in 

detail within any Route 2 contract which they are entering into. 

Short-Term Placements 

10. The model contract has been drafted primarily with long term placements in mind.  However, 

many of the same terms and conditions should apply in the case of a short-term placement 

which is being established on a Route 2 basis.  Indeed, the only obvious change to the Schedule 

which might be necessary in the case of a short-term placement is to the notice periods in the 

Termination of Contract clause. 

SPECIFIC POINTS ABOUT THE MODEL CONTRACT

The Offer 

11. The wording of the offer and information contained may vary slightly from authority to 

authority.  However, for the sake of transparency, it is important that the offer is in respect of a 

particular resident, that the resident's name is on the front sheet of the offer and that the offer 

states the level of care which will be provided to the resident under the contract (personal care 

or nursing care or personal and nursing care.) 

THE SCHEDULE

Definition of the Contract Price:

12. The contract price is set in regulations of the Scottish Parliament (The Community Care 

(Personal Care and Nursing Care) (Scotland) Regulations 2002) and can only be varied through 

regulations.  The definition is worded in such a way that if the contract price is changed in 

regulations at some future date, then no amendment will be needed to existing contracts. 

Pre-Conditions concerning the resident:

13. The third pre-condition concerning the resident ((c) in 2.2) is that the resident must either have 

been assessed by the local authority as requiring personal and/or nursing care or "is a person 

referred to in Regulation 2 of the Community Care (Assessment of Needs) (Scotland) 

Regulations 2002...."  This refers to those people who were already in a care home prior to 

1 April 2002 and for whom local authorities can arrange the provision of personal and/or 

nursing care without carrying out a needs assessment under the transitional arrangements for 

implementation. 

Page 83



ANNEX C 

3

Duration of Contract:

14. Section 2 sets out the eligibility criteria.  Paragraph 18 notes that local authorities will need to 

have in place agreed eligibility criteria for assessments of need and priorities for the provision 

of and access to services based on need.  Following a needs assessment, payment towards 

personal care should commence when the authority is in a position to arrange or provide the 

required services.  At this point, we believe the existence of the model contract should ensure 

that the individual's contract can be put in place readily. 

Payment

15. The local authority must pay the entire contract price to the care provider in return for the 

services and cannot withhold a part of the payment for any reason or all of the payment except 

for the reasons contained in Clauses 10, 14, 15 and 18 (loss of registration, temporary absence 

of the resident from the home for longer than 14 days, death of the resident or termination of the 

contract.)  This is a statutory requirement. 

16. It should be clear to individuals that flat rate payments for personal and nursing care will be 

made by the local authority to the care home.  Care home managers will wish to ensure that 

there is clarity in revised billing arrangements.  These arrangements should also reflect the 

National Care Standards for Care Homes for Older People in relation to clarity of information 

regarding fees and fee structures. 

17. It has been suggested that the contract should state that the entire contract price must be passed 

on by the care provider to the resident.  We do not think that such a clause can be included for 

legal reasons.  However, it is important that the full financial benefit of the personal and nursing 

care policy is passed on to the individual who should see a consequent reduction in their care 

home fees.  If it becomes evident that this is not happening, it should be reported to the Scottish 

Executive.

18. It is likely that both local authorities and care providers will want to expand on the phrase "usual 

payment mechanisms" by clarifying exactly what payment mechanisms will apply.  We 

anticipate that in most cases these will be the same payment mechanisms which apply to 

existing contracts between particular local authorities and particular care providers.  We have 

not attempted to include such payment mechanisms in the model contract because of the 

considerable variations from authority to authority.  We do not see this variation in payment 

mechanisms as a problem and are happy for local authorities and care providers to agree 

payment mechanisms as they see fit. 

19. Local authorities may also wish to go into greater detail in their own Route 2 contracts about the 

arrangements and timing for the provision of receipted invoices to the local authority by the care 

provider. 

Monitoring and Review of Resident's Care Needs: Initial Review

20. Where there is no trial period, an initial review should still be carried out during the first few 

weeks after the contract has been entered into, in addition to the review after six months. 

Page 84



ANNEX C 

4

Monitoring and Review of Resident's Care Needs: Responsibility for Annual Review

21. Arrangements as to who is responsible for the annual review vary from local authority to local 

authority.  The Executive accepts such variations, provided that there is clarity in the contract 

about who is responsible for the annual review and when it will be carried out. 

Complaints

22. In some existing contracts between local authorities and care providers, it is the care provider's 

responsibility rather than the local authority's to advise the resident of their right to complain to 

the local authority about any aspect of the care being provided under the contract.  The 

Executive has no objection to this responsibility falling on the provider rather than the council, 

as long as there is clarity for the resident. 

Insurance

23. Insurance is a mandatory requirement of care home registration under the Regulation of Care 

(Scotland) Act 2001.  For this reason, some local authorities may feel that this clause is 

unnecessary.  This is a decision for individual authorities on the basis of the advice they receive. 

Statutory Obligations

24. Local authorities may wish to replace this clause with their own standard equivalent clause. 

Temporary Absence from the Home: Cessation of Payments

25. The cessation of payments of the contract price after the resident has been temporarily absent 

from the home for a period of 14 days is an important element of national consistency across all 

Route 2 contracts.  This condition should not be varied in any Route 2 contract. 

26. We have heard arguments in favour of a sliding scale of decreasing payments after 14 days (as is 

sometimes the case in existing contracts between local authorities and care providers) and 

arguments in favour of a longer period of continued payments in the case of hospitalisation.  

However, the Executive considers that it cannot justify the provision of personal and nursing 

care payments beyond 14 days to anyone who is not receiving those services as a result of 

temporary absence from the home (and who in the case of hospitalisation is also receiving that 

care elsewhere from public funds). 

Death of the Resident

27. The continued payment of the contract price for 3 days after the date of death is an important 

element of national consistency.  This condition should not be varied in any Route 2 contract.

28. For the avoidance of doubt, this clause means that the local authority's financial obligation will 

end 3 complete days after the resident's death (i.e. if the resident died on 1 September, the 

contract price should be paid pro rata up to and including 4 September.) 

Page 85



ANNEX C 

5

Assignation and Sub Contracting

29. Provided that the purchaser/intended purchaser is already registered or succeeds in being 

granted registration, we do not see any reason why the local authority would not consent to an 

assignation of the contract in favour of the purchaser. 

User Agreements

30. The Route 2 contract will run alongside the private agreement between the resident and the care 

provider.  However, one of the signatories to the Route 2 contract, the local authority, may not 

see the private agreement.  This clause is in part intended to protect the local authority in this 

situation and to ensure that where the private agreement and the Route 2 contract are in conflict, 

the Route 2 contract takes precedence. 

Termination of the Contract: The care being provided is no longer appropriate

31. At the time that a Route 2 contract is entered into, the contract will specify whether personal 

care or nursing care or personal care and nursing care is to be provided to the resident under the 

contract.  The contract price to be paid by the local authority to the care provider will vary 

according to the type of care being provided. 

32. As a result of a re-assessment (or assessment in the case of a resident who received the care 

under the transitional arrangements for implementation) of the resident's care needs at a later 

date, it may become apparent that the care which the resident is receiving under the contract is 

no longer appropriate.  This could be because the resident's care needs have significantly 

increased and the resident now requires nursing care as well as personal care.  Alternatively, a 

resident's care needs might decrease (during recovery from a stroke for example) to the point 

where a resident who was being provided with personal care under the contract is assessed as no 

longer requiring either personal or nursing care. 

33. In all of these instances, since the contract was established for the provision of a particular type 

of care (personal care or nursing care or personal and nursing care), the Executive's view is that 

it would not be appropriate to continue with or adapt the existing contract.  Instead, the existing 

Route 2 contract would need to be terminated under Clause 18.  If the resident has been assessed 

as no longer having care needs, and is therefore ineligible for a continued contribution towards 

their care costs, it will not be appropriate to agree a new Route 2 contract.  However, if the 

resident's care needs have changed rather than ceased, then it will be appropriate to agree a new 

Route 2 contract which reflects these changed needs.  This new Route 2 contract would begin 

the day after the old contract was terminated. 

Notices: The person nominated by the council

34. It has been suggested that local authorities may wish to nominate a member of staff more senior 

than the care manager in this clause. 

Variations, 23.  Law of Scotland and 24.  Exercise of Powers: Standard Clauses

35. Local authorities may choose to substitute their own standard clauses to replace those here.  In 

addition, local authorities may have other standard clauses which it might be appropriate to 

include within this part of the schedule. 

Page 86



abcdeabca

 COUNCIL 

Contract for the provision of personal 

and nursing care for Route 2 

Name of Service Provider

In respect of:-  

(Name of Resident) 

For a short term placement / long term placement (delete as applicable) 

.......................................................................................... Council 

Page 87



abcdeabca

.......................................................................................... Address 

..........................................................................................

..........................................................................................

I/We                                                HEREBY OFFER to provide the Services to the Resident on the 

terms and conditions as set out in the Schedule for the Contract Price payable by you for Personal 

Care / nursing care / Personal Care and nursing care (delete as applicable). 

To the best of my/our knowledge and belief I/we have complied with all statutory requirements in 

respect of ensuring equal opportunity in employment. 

I confirm that a copy of the Contract will be given to the Resident at the commencement of the Care. 

Signed ............................................................... Date ..........................................................

Name of signatory (in block capitals) 

Position of signatory 

Name(s) under which the Home is registered 

with the Commission (hereinafter referred to 

as “the Provider”) 

Address under which the Home is registered 

with the Commission (if different from 

below)

Name of Resident 

Address of Home 

Company Registration No. (if applicable) 

Page 88



This is the Schedule referred to in the foregoing Offer 

between the Provider and the Council 

Terms and Conditions of Contract for 

Personal Care and nursing care 

INDEX

1. Definitions, interpretations and related matters 

2. Pre-Conditions

3. Duration of Contract 

4. Services to be provided 

5. Payment 

6. Assessment and Care Management 

7. Monitoring and Review of Resident’s Care Needs 

8. Contract Monitoring 

9. Complaints

10. Registration 

11.Confidentiality 

12.Insurance

13.Statutory Obligations 

14.Temporary Absence from Home 

15.Death of Resident 

16.Assignation and Sub Contracting 

17.User Agreements 

18.Termination of the Contract 

19.Resolution of Disputes 

20.Notices

21.Prevention of Corruption and Collusion 

22.Variations

Page 89



23.Law of Scotland  

24.Exercise of Powers 

25.Entire Agreement 

Page 90



TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF CONTRACT 

INTRODUCTION

The Contract is entered into by the Council and the Provider for the purpose of securing 

appropriate and adequate Care for the Resident who has or will have arranged his or her own 

residential accommodation with the Provider by Private Agreement. 

1. DEFINITIONS, INTERPRETATIONS AND RELATED MATTERS 

1.1 In the Contract:- 

“Care” means Personal Care and/or nursing care. 

“Care Assessments” means the assessments undertaken by the Council’s Social 

Work staff.

“Care Standards” means the standard of care set out in “National Care 

Standards” published by the Scottish Executive and available from the 

Stationery Office Bookshop, 71 Lothian Road, Edinburgh EH3 9AZ.

“Care Manager” means the person appointed by the Council to monitor the Care 

provided to the Resident by the Provider. 

“Contract” means the foregoing Offer incorporating the Schedule and the 

Council’s written acceptance thereof.

“Contract Price” means: 

(a) where Personal Care only is provided, the amount from time to time set out 

at regulation 2(a) of the Community Care (Personal Care and Nursing Care) 

(Scotland) Regulations 2002*, 

(b) where nursing care only is provided the amount from time to time set out 

at regulation 2(b) of those Regulations*, and 

(c) where both kinds of care are provided, the aggregate of the two amounts*. 

 *As at 1 July 2002 

nursing care only -  £65 per week 

Personal Care only -  £145 per week 

nursing care and Personal Care -  £210 per week 

“Council” means                      Council, a local authority constituted in terms of the Local Government etc (Scotland) Act 1994 

and having its Head Office at                      and any successor council. 

Page 91



“Commission” means the Scottish Commission for the Regulation of Care, Compass House, 11 Riverside Drive, Dundee. 

“Complaints Procedure” has the meaning set out in Section 25 of the Regulation of Care (Requirements as to Care Services) 

(Scotland) Regulations 2002. 

“Home” means the whole buildings and associated lands used as a care home by the Provider and may include any alternative 

accommodation approved by the appropriate authority in the event of emergency for the purposes of temporarily accommodating 

all or any part of the management, staff and residents thereof. 

“Parties” means the Council and the Provider and "Party" shall be construed accordingly. 

“Personal Care” means care of a kind referred to in Section 1(1)(a), (b) and (c) of the Community Care and Health (Scotland) 

Act 2002. 

"Personal Plan" has the meaning set out in regulation 5 of the Regulation of Care (Requirements as to Care Services) 

Regulations 2002. 

“Private Agreement” means any agreement entered into between the Provider and the Resident which sets out the residential 

terms and conditions of the Resident’s residence in the Home. 

“Provider” has the meaning ascribed to it in the foregoing Offer. 

“Registration” means registration of the Home with the Commission. 

“Representative” means any person nominated by the Resident to be first contacted or advised by the Provider and the Council 

regarding the Resident’s circumstances, or any significant change thereto, who shall, in the event of the Resident failing to 

nominate any such person, be the Resident’s next of kin or attorney (if any). 

“Resident” means the person to whom the Services are provided in terms of the Contract.

“Schedule” means this Schedule to the Contract. 

“Services” means the Care provided in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Contract. 

1.2 References to any statutory provisions in the Contract shall be construed as 

references to those provisions as respectively amended or re-enacted either 

before or after the date of the Contract. 

1.3 In the Contract, words importing the singular number only shall be deemed to 

include the plural number and vice versa unless the context otherwise requires 

and words importing the masculine gender shall be deemed to include the 

feminine gender and vice versa unless the context otherwise requires. 

1.4 Reference to persons in the Contract shall include all entities with legal 

personality including natural persons, partnerships and companies save where 

the context otherwise requires.

2. PRE CONDITIONS

2.1 The Provider shall be registered with the Commission, or an equivalent body if 

the placement is outwith Scotland. 

Page 92



2.2 The Resident (a) has chosen the Home to provide the Care and (b) has entered or 

will have entered into a Private Agreement with the Provider and (c) has either 

had a Care Assessment carried out and been assessed by the Council as 

requiring Care, or is a person referred to in Regulation 2 of the Community 

Care (Assessment of Needs)(Scotland) Regulations 2002 to whom the Council has 

decided to provide or to secure the provision of Care without carrying out such a 

Care Assessment.

3. DURATION OF CONTRACT 

3.1 The Contract will commence on the last date of execution hereof or the date of 

the Resident’s entry to the Home, whichever is the later, and will continue until 

terminated in accordance with any of the terms of the Contract.

4. SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED 

4.1 The Provider shall, in exchange for the Contract Price, provide Care to the 

Resident in accordance with the Care Standards. 

5. PAYMENT 

5.1 The Council will pay the Contract Price to the Provider for the Services in accordance 

with the Council’s usual payment mechanisms. The Provider will provide receipted 

invoices to the Council. 

5.2 If payment of the Contract Price is not made within 28 days of the due date, the 

Council shall on written demand by the Provider pay interest at 2% above the Royal 

Bank of Scotland Base Rate from time to time in respect of each day of overdue 

payment. 

6 ASSESSMENT AND CARE MANAGEMENT 

6.1 Care Assessments will be arranged by the Council. 

6.2 The Resident will have a Care Manager allocated by the Council. 

7. MONITORING AND REVIEW OF RESIDENT’S CARE NEEDS 

7.1 The Resident’s Care, including a report by the Provider on the review of the 

Resident’s Care in the Personal Plan, will be reviewed at the end of any trial 

period, (initial review) and six months after the start of the Contract and 

annually thereafter. 

7.2 The Resident, the Representative, the Council, and the Provider may request a 

review at any other time. 

Page 93



7.3 The Care Manager will be responsible for calling, arranging a venue for and 

minuting, the initial review and the six month review. 

7.4 Annual reviews will thereafter be the responsibility of the Provider.  The 

Provider will advise the Care Manager of any review and will give the Care 

Manager the opportunity to comment as part of the review. 

7.5 The Care provided in the Home will be in accordance with the Care Standards 

as inspected and monitored by the Commission. The Council will utilise this 

information for the purposes of monitoring the provision of the Care by the 

Provider.

8. CONTRACT MONITORING 

8.1 The Provider will comply with the Council’s systems for monitoring, evaluating 

and auditing the operation of the Contract upon being given reasonable notice by 

the Council.  The Council will advise the Provider about the systems for 

monitoring, evaluating and auditing in use.  The Council reserves the right to 

visit the Home and the Resident at any reasonable time without giving notice and 

without prejudice to the Resident’s right to privacy. 

9. COMPLAINTS 

9.1 The Provider will provide a copy of the complaints procedure of the Home to the 

Council and the Resident. 

9.2 The Resident will be advised by the Council that he or she has the right to 

complain directly to the Council if he or she is not happy with any aspect of the 

Care.

9.3 The Provider will ensure that the Resident and the Representative know how to 

make a complaint and are assisted with the completion of the documents (if 

required).

9.4 The Provider will notify all complaints relating to the Contract to the Council 

routinely as part of the auditing of the Contract. 

10. REGISTRATION 

10.1 In the event of the Commission serving notice of intent to take, or notice of 

decision to implement enforcement action against the Provider, the Council may, 

but shall not be bound to terminate the Contract without notice irrespective of 

whether or not the time for any representation or appeal with respect to the 

enforcement action has expired or that a representation or an appeal is pending. 

11. CONFIDENTIALITY 

11.1 Other than as permitted in terms of Clause 11.2 below, the Provider and its staff 

shall regard as strictly confidential and shall not disclose to any unauthorised 

person, at any time during or after the duration, of the Contract, any 

Page 94



information obtained in relation to the Council or the Resident.  The Provider 

shall not use any such information except as specifically required for the 

purposes of performing its obligations under the Contract. 

11.2 Notwithstanding Clause 11.1 above, the Provider may, with the prior consent of 

the Resident, disclose personal and medical information relating to the Resident 

to the relatives of the Resident or other suitably interested person in respect of 

the Resident.  Such information must have also been made available to the 

Resident, subject always to any legislation, rule of law, or any pending civil or 

criminal investigation or inquiry and in particular to compliance with the Access 

to Personal Files Act, 1987 and the Data Protection Act, 1998.

11.3 The Provider shall at all times, ensure that its employees observe the principle of 

confidentiality in terms of Clauses 11.1 and 11.2 above.  The Provider shall 

indemnify the Council against any claims made by the Resident or any third 

party, as a result of either the Provider, or its employees, failing to maintain 

confidentiality in terms of this contract. 

11.5 The Provider shall not, unless permitted or requested to do so by the Resident, 

reveal information relating to any other contract which might exist between the 

Provider and the Resident. 

11.6 The Provider shall not, unless permitted or requested to do so by the Resident, 

reveal any financial information about the Resident, even if the Provider is 

aware that the Resident’s capital or income appears to be running low.

11.7 The obligations of confidentiality contained in this clause shall survive the 

termination of the Contract. 

12. INSURANCE 

12.1 The Provider shall be responsible for ensuring that appropriate and adequate 

insurance is maintained throughout the duration of the Contract. 

13. STATUTORY OBLIGATIONS 

13.1 Throughout the duration of the Contract, the Provider will observe and comply with 

all statutory enactments and regulations, and bye-laws of local or other authorities or 

other public bodies applicable to the Home and to the Services including and without 

prejudice to the foregoing generality, the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 

and those applicable to Health and Safety at Work, Human Rights and Race 

Relations. 

14. TEMPORARY ABSENCE FROM THE HOME 

14.1 The Provider will provide the Care to the Resident over a twenty four hour period, 365 days a year, subject to any hospitalisation

or other absence agreed between the Resident and the Provider. 

Page 95



14.2 The Provider will immediately inform the Representative and the Council if the 

Resident is absent from the Home without notice. 

14.3 In the event of the hospitalisation of the Resident, the Provider will, as soon as 

reasonably practicable (but in any event no later than the next working day) 

inform the Council. 

14.4 The Council will continue to pay the Contract Price for a period of fourteen days 

from the commencement of the Resident’s absence from the Home. 

15. DEATH OF THE RESIDENT 

151 In the event of the death of the Resident, the Provider will, as soon as is 

reasonably practicable, but no later than the next working day, inform the 

Council.

15.2 The Contract and the Council’s financial obligation will terminate three 

complete days after the date of death (the date of the Resident’s death being day 

zero).

16. ASSIGNATION and SUB CONTRACTING 

16.1 The Provider binds and obliges itself: 

(a) not to assign or sub-contract any part of the Contract without the 

prior written consent of the Council, and 

(b) not to significantly change the facilities or amenities of the Home 

without giving the Council and the Resident at least 4 weeks’ 

written notice, and 

(c) to give at least 4 weeks' written notice to the Council and the 

Resident prior to a sale of the Home being completed. 

16.2 In the event of the Provider selling or entering into an agreement to sell the 

Home, the Council may, upon being satisfied of the intended purchaser’s 

suitability, and provided the intended purchaser applies for and is granted 

registration by the Commission within 60 days of the sale, consent to an 

assignation of the Contract in favour of the purchaser.

Page 96



17. USER AGREEMENTS 

17.1 The Resident will not be required or requested by the Provider to sign any 

agreement in respect of his or her place in the Home which conflicts with the 

provisions of the Contract.  Where any such agreement, including the Private 

Agreement, does so conflict the terms of the Contract shall take precedence. 

18. TERMINATION OF THE CONTRACT 

18.1 Without prejudice to Clause 15.2, the Contract will subsist until termination in 

accordance with the provisions of this Clause 18. 

18.2 The Provider may terminate the Contract, by giving 28 days written notice to the 

Resident and the Council. 

18.3 If the Provider has a receiver appointed, becomes insolvent, apparently 

insolvent, or is sequestrated or goes into liquidation (other than voluntary 

liquidation for the purposes of reconstruction or amalgamation) or is wound up 

by the Court or is voluntarily wound up by creditors or by members, the Council 

shall be entitled to terminate the Contract with immediate effect. 

18.4 The Council may terminate the Contract immediately without notice and advise 

the Resident if the Provider commits a material breach of the terms and 

conditions of the Contract.  One of the circumstances constituting a material 

breach will be the serving on the Provider by the Commission of a decision notice 

stating that the Commission has decided to implement a proposal to cancel 

registration. 

18.5 The Provider may terminate the Resident's Care upon giving the Council and 

the Resident 28 days' notice in writing if: 

  (a) the care needs of the Resident are such that the Provider, the 

Council and the Commission agree that the Provider is unable to continue to 

provide appropriate care; or 

  (b) the Council has failed to pay the Contract Price to the Provider in 

accordance with the Contract. 

18.6 The Council may terminate the Contract upon 28 days' written notice if the Care 

being provided under the Contract is no longer appropriate to the Resident's 

care needs. 

18.7 Notwithstanding any of the above the Council may terminate the Contract upon 

28 days' written notice.  The Council will advise the Provider in writing of its 

reasons for terminating, except where this would conflict with any duty of 

confidentiality between the Council and any other person. 

18.8 Notwithstanding any of the above, the Contract will terminate with effect from 

the date of termination of the Private Agreement.  If the Provider receives notice 

of the Resident’s intention to leave the Home or to terminate the Private 

Agreement, the Provider shall notify the Council. 

Page 97



18.9 During any notice period stipulated in this Clause 18, the Provider and the 

Council will co-operate to ensure that Care is provided to the Resident. 

19. RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES 

19.1 If any dispute arises between the Council and the Provider in respect of the 

Contract the Council and the Provider shall use their reasonable endeavours to 

reach an amicable and workable resolution of the matter in dispute within 

two weeks of the dispute arising. 

19.2 If a dispute is not resolved between the Council and the Provider in terms of 

Clause 19.1, then the dispute will be referred to the dispute resolution procedure 

set out in the Commission’s regulations and shall follow all the steps therein as 

appropriate. The Care will continue until the dispute is resolved.

20. NOTICES 

20.1 Any notice in writing required to be given to either Party in terms of the Contract, 

whether delivered by hand or first class post (in which case receipt shall be deemed to 

have occurred forty eight hours after such posting) or other information, instructions 

or communication given to the Provider at the Home, shall be deemed to have been 

received by the Provider. 

20.2 Any notice in writing whether delivered by hand or by first class post (in which case 

receipt shall be deemed to have occurred forty eight hours after such posting) or other 

information, instruction or communication given to the Care Manager or any other 

person nominated from time to time by the Council being the duly authorised 

representative for all purposes connected with the Contract, shall be deemed to have 

been received by the Council. 

21. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION AND COLLUSION 

21.1 The Council will be entitled to terminate the Contract with immediate effect and 

to recover from the Provider the amount of any loss resulting from such 

cancellation if the Provider has given or agreed to give, to any member, 

employee or representative of the Council any gift or consideration of any kind 

as an inducement or reward for doing any act in relation to the obtaining or 

carrying out of the Contract or the Care of the Resident. 

22. VARIATIONS 

22.1 The terms of the Contract shall not be amended or varied in any way other than by a 

written Minute of Variation between duly authorised representatives of the Provider 

and the Council and shall be intimated forthwith to the Resident. 

23. LAW OF SCOTLAND 

Page 98



23.1 The construction, validity, performance and all other matters arising out of and in 

connection with the Contract shall be governed by the Law of Scotland. 

24. EXERCISE OF POWERS 

24.1 The Council will exercise any of its powers, obligations or discretions in terms of the 

Contract, in a reasonable manner and in accordance with its statutory obligations. 

25. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

25.1 The Contract shall constitute the entire contract between the Council and the 

Provider in respect of the Home and the Resident’s admission to the Home and 

supersedes all prior oral or written agreements, understandings or undertakings 

between the Council and the Provider in respect of the Home and the Resident. 

ISBN 0 7559 1136 9 (web only publication)

Page 99



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



 

WHEN CALLING PLEASE ASK FOR:   Alan McKeown - 0131 474 9214   alanm@cosla.gov.uk 

rcunninghamlet282060.doc  2 
 

COSLA, Rosebery House,  9 Haymarket Terrace,  Edinburgh  EH12 5XZ 
Telephone 0131 474 9200    Fax  0131 474 9292  Internet  www.cosla.gov.uk   

 

 
28 February 2006 Your Ref:  
 
Roseanna Cunningham MSP 
Convener 
Health Committee 
Scottish Parliament 
EDINBURGH 
EH99 1SP 

Our Ref:  
 

 
 
Dear Ms Cunningham 
 
Free Personal Care Inquiry (FPC) 
 
Following the round table meeting on 7 February, as you will recall, COSLA agreed to 
write to the Health Committee to clarify issues surrounding assistance with the preparation 
of food, waiting lists and funding. On the issue of waiting lists and funding, COSLA is in 
the process of pulling together information for the Committee and will endeavour to meet 
your request as soon as possible. 
 
In the meantime, I thought it would be helpful to write to clarify the issues surrounding the 
charging or non-charging for assistance with the preparation of food and the issue of the 
point of provision of services. 
 
When the Care Development Group considered the intent of this policy.  COSLA 
understands, from members of the Group, that there was debate about the financial 
implications of having broad interpretations on issues such as food preparation and that 
the Group never intended all assistance to be free. The overall funding package for FPC 
did not therefore include resources for a broad definition. 
 
Free Personal Care – Food Preparation 
The Community Care (Scotland) Act 2002, Schedule 1, details what should not ordinarily 
be charged for as follows: 
 
(2) As regard the person’s eating requirements – 
 

• assisting with the preparation of food: 
• assisting in the fulfilment of dietary needs.  

 
Whilst this all seems clear the law, interpreted by the original Scottish Executive 
Guidance, (CCD 4 2002, consolidated by CCD 5/2003 page 10 states: 
 

Agenda Item 3ePage 101



 
 
 

Food and Diet 
Food preparation and provision of meal are not included. However assistance with 
eating, assistance to manage specialist diets and the assistance with the 
preparation of specialist meals (pureed foods) is included. 
 
The law indicates that the issue centres not on the preparation of food as a global task but 
on the preparation for eating where preparation for eating is a specific task (to include 
reminders to eat). The confusion is therefore a subtle one. Local authorities supported the 
guidance, as it made clear that it was not the preparation/cooking of the meal that 
constituted personal care, but its preparation for consumption where the individual had 
special (as assessed) requirements or needed to be fed/prompted to eat. Given that there 
is no legal definition or guidance as to what constitutes assistance with food preparation, 
this means that, if challenged, this could only be resolved through the courts. In this 
regard cooking a meal is a hotel cost and therefore chargeable whereas assistance with 
the preparation/consumption of food i.e. once the meal is available, is a personal care task 
and not chargeable.”   
 
COSLA has made its position perfectly clear to the Minister and to the Scottish Executive. 
Any confusion cannot be attributed to local government; any changes to the position on 
charging must be fully funded; and no retrospective payments for charges should be 
made. This is a significant issue for councils, as not being able to charge, and not having 
sufficient resources coming in to cover the additional costs, would create further 
substantial funding problems.  If no additional funding can be secured, the likely way of 
managing the situation would be through direct or indirect service cuts, and reductions in 
staffing levels. COSLA’s best estimate at this stage is that if the Scottish Executive were 
to alter the current position on this issue then Councils would incur additional costs in the 
region of £30 million. It is important to stress that these services were never budgeted for 
when this policy was originally launched, as it was intended that their cost would be met 
through cost recovery.  
  
Availability of Services 
The Committee also pursued the issue of the availability of services following the 
completion of an assessment. Presuming the client has an assessed need within the 
terms of the guidance, the local authority has a duty to provide that service. However, 
paragraph 18 of CCD5/2003 states that, “Following a needs assessment, payment 
towards personal care should commence when the authority is in a position to 
arrange or provide the required services”. 
 
Local authorities are clear on their interpretation of this point. Services can only be 
provided when the resources are available to meet the assessed needs - in other words, 
when the local authority is in a position to arrange or provide these services. The cash 
limited nature of this budget sets the boundaries. 
 
COSLA does not disagree that those services defined as personal care  require to be free 
at the point of delivery, just like health services. Also, like health services, this does not 
mean that they can be immediately provided. Waiting lists in health are presumably the 
norm (partly) because they also have cash limited budgets. In this regard services differ 
from pensions and benefits because local authorities have cash limited budgets. The only 
possible way round this is to either create a large enough budget to avoid anyone having 
to wait for a service, or to develop a system for services like Income Support that 
authorities could simply assess, provide the service or payment, and directly bill the 
Scottish Executive for the costs.  
 

Page 102



 
 
 

I am aware that this letter raises some detailed issues and interpretations. COSLA would 
be happy to provide a private briefing for the Health Committee on these issues and will, 
as mentioned earlier, respond as quickly as possible to the Committee’s request for more 
detailed financial information. 
 
I feel, however, that I must conclude by emphasising that this is a Scottish Executive 
policy. Whilst we support the policy aims and are trying to implement it effectively, many of 
the questions on the policy intention and scope are more the domain of the Scottish 
Executive.  
 
I trust the information contained in this letter is helpful. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
Alan McKeown 
Team Leader, Health & Social Care 
 
 

Page 103



Page 104

This page is intentionally left blank


